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Headquartered in Singapore, mm2 Asia Ltd. (“mm2 Asia”, or together 

with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) champions “Content and Media for 

Asia”, with integrated businesses across the content, entertainment, 

cinema, event and concert industries in Singapore, Malaysia, Hong 

Kong, Taiwan, China and the United States of America. Since our 

listing on the Catalist Board of SGX-ST in December 2014, and the 

successful transfer to the Mainboard of SGX-ST in August 2017, 

mm2 Asia has strengthened its competitive advantage through its 

acquisitions of a majority stake in an award winning virtual reality, 

visual effects and computer-generated imagery studio, Vividthree 

Holdings Ltd. (SGX Stock Code: OMK), and an event production and 

concert promotion company, UnUsUaL Limited (SGX Stock Code: 

1D1). With the establishment of mmCineplexes and the acquisition 

of Cathay Cineplexes Pte. Ltd., mm2 Asia is currently one of the key 

cinema operators in Malaysia and Singapore. 

THE GROUP’S PRIMARY BUSINESS ACTIVITIES:
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Note: Amounts presented in Financial Highlights are the combination of continuing operations(1) and discontinued 
operations(2)

(1)	 Continuing operations comprised of Core Business, Digital & Live Production, Concert & Event and Other segments 
(2)	 Discontinued operations comprised of Cinema Business
(3)	 EBITDA defines as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, impairment and fair value losses/gains. The EBITDA presented after excluding 

the gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary (mm Connect Group) of $31.8 million for FY2023.
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OUR
BUSINESSES

The Group’s core business lies in film, TV and online 
content production, distribution and sponsorship. 
As a producer, mm2 Asia provides services across 
the entire content value chain, allowing us to derive 
revenue from all relevant stages of the filmmaking 
process – from inception to exhibition. 

PRODUCTION INCOME 

The Group derives production income from producer 
and consultancy fees, producer’s bonuses, 
government subsidies, script development, 
exploitation of copyrights, pre-production, principal 
photography and other contributions.

Vividthree Holdings Ltd. is listed on the Catalist 
Board of the SGX-ST (Stock Code: OMK) 

Vividthree Holdings Ltd. (“Vividthree”) is an award-
winning studio specialising in VFX(1) and CGI(2) 
and location-based entertainment with immersive 
experience serving clients across Asia. Vividthree’s 
offerings are divided into three business segments: 
Digital Content, MICE(3) Experiences and Consumer 
Entertainment.

(1)	 VFX: Visual Effects
(2)	 CGI: Computer-generated Imagery
(3)	 MICE: Meetings, Incentives, Conferences and Exhibitions

DISTRIBUTION INCOME 

Distribution income is derived through the 
distribution of content produced by the Group or 
third parties across various platforms – cinemas, 
Pay TV, Free TV, online, DVD, airlines and others. 
For films mm2 Asia has a stake in, we are entitled 
to a percentage of net receipts from the films 
distributed across these platforms. The Group also 
receives commissions from script licensing and 
other post-release licensing agreements such as 
adaptation and sequel rights.

SPONSORSHIP INCOME 

The Group derives sponsorship income through 
offering content and platform solutions to 
advertisers to promote their products and services.

CONTENT PRODUCTION DISTRIBUTION
AND SPONSORSHIP

DIGITAL AND LIVE PRODUCTION BUSINESS
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OUR BUSINESSES

UnUsUaL Limited is listed on the Catalist Board 
of the SGX-ST (Stock Code: 1D1) 

As the Group’s event production and concert 
promotion’s arm. UnUsUaL Limited (“UnUsUaL”) 
produces and promotes large-scale events and 
concerts for renowned artistes and showrunners, 
offering comprehensive creative and technical 
solutions for events and concerts in Singapore and 
beyond. 

The Group is presently the only player managing 
and operating cinemas in both Malaysia and 
Singapore. The Group operates 90* screens 
across 12* locations in Malaysia under the brand 
“mmCineplexes”. In Singapore, following the 
acquisition of Cathay Cineplexes Pte. Ltd., the 
Group became one of the key cinema operators 
in Singapore, with 44* screens across 6* locations 
under the brand “Cathay Cineplexes”. 

*	 As at 30 June 2023

CONCERT AND EVENT

CINEMA BUSINESS

90 4412 6
Screens ScreensLocations Locations
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CORPORATE
MILESTONES
•	 Listed on SGX Catalist Board

•	 Acquired 51% stake in Vividthree 
Productions Pte. Ltd. 

•	 Issuance of $2.875 million 
Convertible Bonds to Phillip Asia 
Pacific Opportunity Fund Ltd. 

•	 Issuance of $2.6 million with 
$1.3 million greenshoe option 
Exchangeable Convertible Bonds to 
3VS1 Asia Growth Fund 2 Ltd. 

•	 Acquired 2 cinemas’ businesses 
and assets from Cathay Cineplexes 
Sdn. Bhd.

•	 Issuance of $47.85 million in 
Convertible Debt Securities by mm2 
Asia’s subsidiary, mm Connect Pte. 
Ltd. (Cinema Business)

•	 Establishment of US$300 million 
Guaranteed Multicurrency Medium 
Term Note in the Bond Market

•	 Incorporation of a 51%-owned 
subsidiary, AsiaOne Online Pte. 
Ltd., with Singapore Press Holdings 
Limited

•	 Listing of Vividthree Holdings Ltd., 
on SGX Catalist Board

•	 Incorporation of new subsidiary – 
DD2 Media Pte. Ltd. (“DD2 Media”)

•	 $115 million Secured Loan Facility 
with United Overseas Bank Limited

•	 Launch of video streaming service – 
mPlay Asia

•	 Launch of on-demand streaming 
service - Cathay CineHome 

•	 Announced Proposed Spin-off and 
Listing of the mm2 Asia Cinema 
Business

•	 Announced Proposed Merger of the 
mm2 Asia Ltd.’s Cinema Business 
with Golden Village Cinemas in 
Singapore

•	 Renounceable Underwritten Rights 
Issue with proceeds of $54.65 
million

•	 Redemption of Medium-term Note 
Programme of $51.75 million

•	 Extension of Convertible Debt 
Securities to 31 December 2022

•	 Launch of Metaviva NFT 
Marketplace

•	 Placement of 465 million ordinary 
shares amounting to $25.5 million

•	 Issuance of $54 million in 
Exchangeable Bonds with 
Detachable Warrants

•	 Settlement of $47.65 million in 
Convertible Debt Securities issued 
by mm Connect Pte. Ltd. and 
Issuance of $30.7 million Unsecured, 
Redeemeable, Convertible and 
Exchangeable Bonds by mm2 Asia 
Ltd.

•	 Incorporation of new subsidiary – 
mmLive Pte. Ltd. (“mmLive”) 

•	 Entered into Binding Term Sheet with 
Hildrics Asia Growth Fund VCC to 
issue up to $10 million in convertible 
notes in mmLive.

•	 Placement Agreement with StarHub 
Ltd. (“StarHub”) to acquire 9% 
stake in mm2 Asia for $18 million

•	 Acquired 3 cinemas’ businesses 
and assets from Mega Cinemas 
Management Sdn. Bhd.

•	 Incorporation of new subsidiary – 
mm2 Entertainment USA, Inc. in 
California, United States of America

•	 Acquired 51% stake in UnUsUaL 
Pte. Ltd. (now known as UnUsUaL 
Limited) 

•	 Recognised as Forbes Asia’s 200 
Best under a Billion

•	 Appointment of Mr Chang Long 
Jong as Chief Executive Officer of 
mm2 Asia Ltd. 

•	 Listing of UnUsUaL Limited on SGX 
Catalist Board 

•	 Incorporation of new subsidiary – 满
满哆文化传媒(上海)有限公司 (mm2 
International Co., Ltd.) in Shanghai, 
China

•	 Signing of co-production deal with 
Turner for 5 Feature Films in 3 Years

•	 Commencement of trading on SGX 
Mainboard

•	 Acquired 13 cinema businesses 
and assets from Lotus Five Star 
Cinemas (M) Sdn. Bhd.

•	 Acquired 100% stake in Cathay 
Cineplexes Pte. Ltd.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

Revenue

The Group’s revenue grew by approximately $50.8 million or 
60.8%, from $83.5 million to $134.3 million. This was mainly 
attributed to the gradual recovery of the Group’s businesses 
from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the lifting 
of governments’ restrictions since April 2022. Revenues of 
each segment are analysed as follows:

The Core Business saw an increase in its total revenue 
(before segments elimination) by approximately $27.9 million 
or 38.0%, from $73.4 million to $101.3 million. The increase 
was mainly due to film/drama productions by $27.1 million, 
or 42.9%, as the segment completed more projects than the 
previous financial year.

The Digital and Live Experience Production (“Digital & Live 
Production”) segment’s total revenue (before segments 
elimination) increased slightly by approximately $0.1 million 
or 3.6%, from $2.8 million to $2.9 million. This was mainly 
due to an improvement in the segment’s revenue in Live 
Experience Production from $0.4 million to $0.6 million, as 
more projects were completed with higher value in FY2023.

The Concert and Event (“Event”) segment’s total revenue 
(before segments elimination) also saw a significant 
improvement by approximately $25.6 million, up from $3.6 
million to $29.2 million. This increase was a result of the 
reopening of live performances in Singapore and Malaysia, 
coupled with the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions, including 
the capacity limit for large-scale events since April 2022, 
additionally, this has led its promotion and production 
business to increase significantly. 

Other segments comprise media advertising activities, news 
agency activities, software development for interactive 
digital media, brand consulting services, streaming digital 
films and short video content. This segment’s revenue 
(before segments elimination) is primarily contributed by 
advertising and news agency activities, and the revenue 
slightly decreased by $0.3 million or 6.8%, from $4.4 million 
to $4.1 million.

 

Cost of sales

The cost of sales increased by approximately $31.8 million 
or 42.5%, from $74.8 million to $106.6 million. The increase 
in the cost of sales was in line with the increase in revenue 
from respective business segments, particularly the Core 
and Event segments, except for other direct fixed costs, 
such as depreciation, amortisation and direct staff cost, 
which have been incurred throughout the year.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased by approximately $18.9 million, from 
$8.8 million in FY2022 to $27.7 million in FY2023 due to 
better performances from the Core and Event segments 
which contributed to the increase. As a result, the gross profit 
margin of the Group has improved from 10.5% to 20.6%.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately $1.6 million or 
69.6%, from $2.3 million to $0.7 million, mainly due to lower 
government grant income from the Job Support Scheme 
(JSS) and government subsidy of approximately $1.3 million 
compared to the previous financial year.

Other (losses)/gains - net

The Group recorded net other losses of approximately $26.5 
million compared to net other losses of $3.8 million in the 
previous year. The increase in net losses in FY2023 was 
mainly due to fair value losses on financial instruments from 
convertible securities, which accounted for $24.2 million.
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The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by 
approximately $2.0 million or 11.6%, from $17.3 million to 
$15.3 million in FY2023. The decrease was attributed to:

(i)	 the Core Business did not recognise any impairment of 
film intangibles and film inventories compared to last 
financial year;

(ii)	 lower in amortisation and depreciation by total 
approximately $1.4 million or 37.5%;

and partially offset by,

(iii)	 an increase in staff cost by approximately a total of 
$0.8 million or 11.9%, mainly contributed by the Event 
segment due to an increase in its business activities.

Finance expenses

Finance expenses increased by $2.2 million or 33.3%, from 
$6.6 million to $8.8 million in FY2023 was mainly due to the 
issuance of new convertible securities in the 4Q FY2023 as 
well as interest rates hiked during FY2023.
 
Share of (losses)/profits of associated companies and 
former joint venture

The share of losses of associated companies and former 
joint venture from profits to losses of $0.5 million in FY2023 
was mainly contributed by the Core Business’s associated 
company.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses consist of the following:

FY2023
$’000

FY2022
$’000

Staff costs and Directors’ fees (excluding those under the cost of sales) 7,509 6,731

Impairment loss on film intangibles and film inventories - 2,417

Depreciation and amortisation 2,327 3,726

Other expenses with no material fluctuation 5,488 4,376

 15,324 17,250

FY2023
$’000

FY2022
$’000

Core Business 24,117 17,936

Digital & Live Experience 
Production

(2,236) (1,755)

Concert & Event 3,624 (2,207)

Others (1,686) (1,019)

Segments elimination 16 (195)

 23,835 12,760

Net loss for the financial year

As a result of those mentioned above, excluding the $24.2 
million of fair value loss from the financial instruments 
(convertible securities), the Group’s performance would have 
achieved a net profit of $0.8 million in FY2023 compared net 
loss of $17.2 million in FY2022. The significant improvement 
is mainly attributed to the Core Business and the Concert 
& Event segment whose financial performance has also 
returned to a profit position for the first time since the 
COVID-19 outbreak.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, 
impairment and fair value losses (“Adjusted EBITDA”)

As described in the performance of each segment above, 
the Core Business and Event and Convert segments are 
the main segments contributing to the Group’s improved 
Adjusted EBITDA in FY2023. The Adjusted EBITDA is 
analysed by segment as follows:
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As described in Note 41(a) to the financial statements, upon 
deconsolidation of the Cinema Operations from the Group’s 
financial statement, the Cinema Operations financial results 
have been presented as “Discontinued Operations” as of 31 
March 2023 and the previous financial year. 

Revenue

The Cinema Operations revenue increased by approximately 
$18.2 million or 61.7% from $29.5 million to $47.7 million in 
FY2023. The full-scale operation of the cinema’s segment 
led to higher admission and box office collections since April 
2022 which was the main factors that contributed positively 
to the overall performance of Cinema Operations.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales increased by approximately $4.1 million, 
or 20.1%, from $20.4 million to $24.5 million in FY2023. The 
increase in the cost of sales was in line with the increase in 
revenue and its business activities.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased by $14.1 million, or 154.9%, from $9.1 
million to $23.2 million, and the increase was mainly due to 
higher admission. As a result, the cinema business’s gross 
profit margin has increased from 30.8% to 48.6% in FY2023. 

Other income

Other income of cinema business has decreased by 
approximately $7.5 million, from $8.7 million to $1.2 million 
in FY2023, was mainly due to a lower in concession income, 
government grant income from Job Support Scheme (JSS) 
and Rental Support Scheme (RSS) for approximately $7.3 
million compared to the previous financial year.
 
Other (losses)/gain - net

The Cinema Operations recorded net other losses of 
approximately $0.6 million in FY2023 million as compared 
to net other gains of $6.2 million in FY2022. Included in 
FY2023, the cinema operation recorded an unrealised loss 
on foreign exchange of $2.3 million from its intercompany 
balances. There was no change in the fair value in its financial 
instruments compared to last financial year that the cinema 
operations had recognised a gain on fair value of its financial 
instrument of $6.0 million and a gain on remeasurement of 
its convertible securities of $1.1 million.
	

Administrative expenses	

The cinema business had incurred administrative expenses 
of $30.6 million in FY2023, which are fairly consistent with 
the previous financial year of $30.0 million. During the 
current financial year, the Cinema Business recognised an 
impairment loss on its goodwill amounted to $117.7 million 
(2022: $12.0 million) as the recoverable amount exceeded 
the carrying amount of the goodwill.

Finance expenses

In FY2023, finance expenses of the Cinema Operation 
comprised: 

(i)	 interest expenses on borrowings of $4.7 million 
(FY2022: $4.7 million); and

 
(ii)	 interest expenses on lease liabilities of $1.8 million 

(FY2022: $2.2 million), a decrease of $0.4 million or 
18.2%, was mainly due to the closure of a cinema 
outlet in Singapore.

Net loss for the financial year 

As a result of those mentioned above, excluding the $117.7 
million (2022: $12.0 million) of impairment loss on its 
goodwill, the Cinema Operation’s performance would have 
a net loss of $13.1 million compared net loss of $12.9 million 
in FY2022. 

The Group recognised a gain on deconsolidation of the 
Cinema Operations of $31.8 million after the Company lost 
control over the Cinema Operations’ board representative in 
FY2023. The details of the deconsolidation of the Cinema 
Operation is mentioned in Note 41(a) to the financial 
statements.  

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation, impairment and fair value gains/losses 
(“Adjusted EBITDA”)

In FY2023, the Cinema Operations’ Adjusted EBITDA 
reduced by $1.8 million or 14% from $12.9 million to  
$11.1 million.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CINEMA 
OPERATIONS)
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets

Current assets increased by $19.4 million or 9.3%, from 
$208.3 million to $227.7 million contributed by:

(i)	 a net decrease in trade and other receivables by 
approximately $4.3 million or 4.2% from $102.9 
million to $98.6 million mainly attributable to the Core 
Business;

(ii)	 a decrease in cash and cash equivalents by 
approximately $5.2 million or 35.6%, from $14.6 
million to $9.4 million, mainly due to cash provided 
by operating activities of $8.9 million, cash utilised 
in investing activities of $1.3 million and in financing 
activities of $12.3 million; and

(iii)	 an increase in other current assets (i.e. costs incurred 
by the Group in fulfilling a contract with its customers 
(third party commissioned projects) for ongoing 
projects by approximately $31.9 million or 38.2%, from 
$83.5 million to $115.4 million due to increase of the 
number of ongoing projects. These project costs will 
be recognised as the cost of sales to match its revenue 
upon completion.

Non-current assets

Non-current assets decreased by $169.3 million or 45.7%, 
from $370.7 million to $201.4 million contributed by:

(i)	 a decrease in other receivables and deposits by $18.1 
million or 90.5% was mainly due to reclassification to 
intangible assets as the Group’s Concert and Event 
segment obtained the intellectual property right from 
the non-related party amounting to $14.3 million; 

(ii)	 an increase in investments in associated companies by 
$90.0 million, after the Management determined that 
the Company had loss of control of mm Connect Pte. 
Ltd and subsequently, the Company’s investment in 
mm Connect Pte. Ltd. is classified as an associated 
company as at 31 March 2023; 

(iii)	 a decrease in property, plant and equipment (including 
right-of-use assets) by approximately $44.6 million 
or 74.6% was mainly due to depreciation charge in 
FY2023 and deconsolidation of the Cinema Operations; 
and

 
(iv)	 a decrease in intangible assets and goodwill by $191.0 

million was mainly due to the deconsolidation of the 
Cinema Operations.

Current liabilities

Current liabilities decreased by $78.5 million or 27.6%, from 
$284.6 million to $206.1 million, contributed by:

(i)	 a net decrease in trade and other payable by $21.1 
million or 23.0%, mainly due to the deconsolidation of 
the Cinema Operations;

(ii)	 a net increase in contract liabilities (i.e. advance billing 
but services yet to be delivered to clients and to be 
recognised as revenue upon services completed) by 
$8.4 million or 103.7% was mainly attributable to the 
Core Business (approximately $10.6 million) due to 
higher in advance billings for ongoing projects;

 
(iii)	 a decrease in short-term borrowings by approximately 

$36.8 million or 23.8%, from $154.4 million to 
$117.6 million. The reduction is mainly due to the 
deconsolidation of Cinema Operations’ borrowings 
and other borrowings of the Group’s segments has 
become due within next 12 months; and

(iv)	 a net decrease in lease liabilities by $27.8 million or 
98.9% was mainly due to the deconsolidation of 
Cinema Operations.

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities increased by approximately $39.4 
million or 42.8%, from $92.0 million to $131.4 million, mainly 
attributable to:

(i)	 the recognition of financial guarantee issued by the 
Company to the Cinema Operations amounting to 
$14.5 million, of which $1.1 million was recognised 
in current other payables and $13.4 million in non-
current other payables in line with the maturity of the 
borrowings of the Cinema Operations; and 

(ii)	 the issuance of the $54.0 million Exchangeable Bond 
by the Company on 30 December 2022 with a maturity 
of three-anniversary of the issue date.  
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REVIEW OF CASH POSITION 

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, 
net of bank overdraft, amounted to approximately $8.9 
million, as compared to $13.6 million in the previous financial 
year. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents mainly 
attributable to the following:

Net cash used in operating activities

In the current financial year, the non-cash adjustments 
to operating activities (comprised of continuing and 
discontinued operations), other than interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation, mainly contributed by:

(i)	 impairment losses of $117.7 million; 

(ii)	 loss on unrealised foreign exchange of $4.3 million; 

(iii)	 loss on fair value changes on financial instruments of 
$21.6 million; and

(iv)	 gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary of $31.8 million. 

Accordingly, the Group generated approximately $39.2 
million net cash inflow from operating activities before net 
working capital changes of continued and discontinued 
operations compared to $26.0 million net cash inflow from 
operating activities before net working capital changes in the 
previous financial year.

After applying net working capital changes, it generated 
net cash inflows of approximately $8.9 million (2022: $26.2 
million). The net working capital changes are derived from 
the following:

(i)	 a net decrease in receivables of $1.2 million;

(ii)	 a net increase in other current assets of $32.8 million 
due to higher project costs incurred and a higher 
number of projects;

(iii)	 a net decrease in trade and other payables of $6.0 
million;

(iv)	 a net increase in contract liabilities of $10.5 million due 
to an increase in progress billing for ongoing projects; 
and

(v)	 corporate tax payments of $1.9 million during the year.

Net cash used in investing activities

In the current financial year, the net cash outflows from 
investing activities amounted to approximately $1.3 million 
as compared to $5.5 million outflows in the previous financial 
year were mainly contributed (i) the addition of property,  
plant and equipment of  $1.0  million and (ii) deconsolidation 
of a  subsidiary’s cash balance of approximately $0.8 million.

Net cash generated from financing activities

In the current financial year, net cash utilised in financing 
activities amounted to approximately $12.3 million (2022: 
$17.9 million), mainly contributed by:

(i)	 proceeds from bank borrowings of approximately 
$30.7 million mainly derived from the Core Business;

(ii)	 proceeds from the issuance of Exchangeable Bonds 
for $54.0 million by the Company;

(iii)	 proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares pursuant 
to the private placement occurred the previous financial 
year, for approximately $9.8 million by the Company;

(iv)	 proceeds from the issuance of new convertible 
securities for $15.4 million by the Cinema Operations;

(v)	 repayment of borrowings for $85.8 million was mainly 
derived from the Core and Cinema Operations;

(vi)	 repayment of lease liabilities of $23.6 million was 
mainly contributed by the Cinema Operations; and

(vii)	 interest payments of $12.7 million (comprising interest 
on bank borrowing of $10.8 million and interest on 
lease liabilities of $1.9 million).

As a result, the Group recorded a net cash decrease of 
approximately $8.9 million in the current financial year, 
compared to a net cash decrease of approximately $13.6 
million in the previous year.
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GROUP
STRUCTURE

mm2 
Entertainment 
Sdn. Bhd.
(Malaysia)

100%

Dreamteam
Studio Sdn.
Bhd.(1)

(Malaysia)

45%
mm2 
Entertainment 
USA, Inc
(USA)

100% mm2 Screen 
Management 
Sdn. Bhd.(1)

(Malaysia)

100%

Vividthree 
Productions 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

Vividthree 
Co., Ltd.
蔚视丰隆文化
发展
(上海)有限公司 
(Shanghai, 
China)

100%

Beyond 
Digital Galaxy 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)(4)

100%

V&N 
Entertainment 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

55%

Elliot 
Communications 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)(5)

30%

mm Plus 
Pte. Ltd.(1)

(Singapore)

100%

mm2 
International 
Co., Ltd.
满满哆文化传媒
(上海)
(China)

100%

2mm Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

mm2
Entertainment
Hong Kong
Limited
(Hong Kong)

100%

Metaviva Pte. 
Ltd. 
(Singapore)

100%

mm2 Film
Distribution 
Sdn. Bhd.(1)

(Malaysia)

49%

mm2 
Entertainment 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
mm Connect 
Pte. Ltd.(1)

(Singapore)

100%
Vividthree 
Holdings Ltd.
(Singapore)
Listed on SGX
Catalist

37.34%

Vividthree
Productions
Sdn. Bhd.
(Malaysia)

100%
mm2 Star
Screen 
Sdn. Bhd.(1)

(Malaysia)

100%

Cathay 
Cineplexes 
Pte Ltd(1)

(Singapore)

100%
mmLive 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)(2)

100%

Rings.TV 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)(1)

15%

UnUsUaL Management Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

51%

UnUsUaL Entertainment 
International Limted
(Hong Kong)

100%

UnUsUaL Development Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

UnUsUaL Productions 
(M) Sdn. Bhd.
(Malaysia)

100%

UnUsUaL Productions Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

UnUsUaL Culture 
Development Co,.Ltd
(Shanghai, China)

100%

UnUsUaL Entertainment Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

White Mount International 
Pte. Ltd.(1)

(Singapore)

50%

Isotope Productions Pte. Ltd.(1)

(Singapore)

100%

FunBase Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)(3)

60%

Mercury Rights Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

60%

UnUsUaL Limited
(Singapore) Listed on SGX Catalist

76.88%
(Group: 39.21%)

Dick Lee 
Asia Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

51%

mm2view 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

DD2 Media 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

mmCinehome 
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

Note
(1)	 Associated companies
(2)	 Incorporated on 13 February 2023
(3)	 In the process of striking off on 15 February 2023
(4)	 Incorporated on 16 March 2023
(5)	 Acquired on 27 May 2023
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

MELVIN ANG
Founder & Executive Chairman

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

FY2023 marks the third year since the start of the COVID-19 
pandemic. It is often said that the night is darkest right before 
the dawn. In FY2023, we finally stepped out of the darkness 
and into the dawning of a new day. Demand is picking up 
and the markets are starting to recover. It also means that we 
will have to work even harder than before to accomplish the 
recovery that we have been planning for so long. 

The media industry in Southeast Asia and Asia has never 
been an easy ride, but there are huge opportunities on 
the horizon. Opportunities such as the growth of digital 
platforms, the growing demand for regional content, the 
arrival of more international players in the Asian market, and 
the growth of talent in Asia amongst other things. 

mm2 is well-positioned to be the frontrunner to tap into 
these opportunities. We have a strong portfolio of brands, 
a deep understanding of the Asian market, and a talented 
team network. We have also been investing in new content 
and technologies, which will give us a competitive edge in 
the years to come.

Our corporate focus in the coming year will be in these three 
key areas: 
-	 Streamlining our existing businesses. We will revisit 

our successes of the last decade of operations and 
identify areas where we can improve our efficiency and 
profitability. 

-	 Leveraging on our competencies. We will continue to 
invest in content creation, growing our business market 
presence and relationships with strategic partnerships. 
We will also look for new ways to leverage our expertise 
in production, distribution, and marketing. 

-	 Growing our market presence in Asia. We will continue 
to ramp up operations for non-Chinese content in the 
region. We will also explore new markets and channels 
to reach our audiences. 

I am confident that this is the dawning of a new era for mm2. 
We have the brand, the presence across multiple markets, 
the deep talent pool, the resources, and the vision to 
succeed. The media landscape is changing rapidly, and we 
need to work hard to stay ahead of the curve. 

On behalf of the Group, I would like to express my sincere 
appreciation to all our valued shareholders, customers, 
and business associates for their continued support and 
confidence in the Group. I would also like to thank the 
management and staff of the Group at all levels for their 
service and contributions, loyalty, and hard work. We have 
faced the challenges of the pandemic together, and together 
we will continue to grow our organization to create long-term 
value for all our stakeholders. 

Thank you again for your support. 

Melvin Ang Wee Chye
Executive Chairman & Executive Director
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CEO’S
STATEMENT

CHANG LONG JONG
Group CEO

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

FY2023 has been another challenging year. Even as the 
impact of COVID-19 abated in Singapore and the region, 
new economic headwinds emerged, slowing down the pace 
of recovery. Nevertheless, as governments across Asia 
eased pandemic restrictions, our businesses began to pick 
up. While we have yet to return to pre-pandemic numbers, 
the results have been encouraging. The road to full recovery 
and beyond is within sight. 
 
The total revenue for the year grew more than 61% (vs 
FY2022) to $134.3 million, driven predominantly by the 
core content creation business and the concert and events 
segment. The core content creation business grew by 38% 
(vs FY2022) to $101.3 million, setting a new revenue record. 
The previous revenue record for the core business was $99.5 
million, achieved in pre-pandemic FY2019.
 
The concerts business bounced back significantly after 
the capacity restrictions of public performances were 
progressively lifted from April 2022. Total revenue from the 
concert and events segment of $29.2 million was achieved in 
the year, more than eight times that of the previous year. The 
gross profit of $7.6 million compared favourably to a gross 
loss of approximately $0.8 million in FY2022.
 
The cinema business continued to improve with revenue and 
gross profit growing to $47.7 million (an increase of 62%) and 
$23.2 million (an increase of 156%) respectively. More work 
involving the ongoing cost rationalisation and development 
of new revenue models is needed to turn around the 
business. As announced on 30 December 2022 and 
completed on 24 March 2023, the Group and the bondholder 
entered into an Exchangeable Bond Subscription Agreement 
with free detachable warrants, issued by mm2 Asia Ltd.. 
In compliance with relevant accounting guidelines and 
considering the terms and conditions of the Agreement, the 
Group assessed and determined that the cinema business is 

to be presented as discontinued operations in the Group’s 
financial results and deconsolidated from Group’s balance 
sheet. Notwithstanding the de-consolidation, the Group still 
retains 100% equity interest in mm Connect as an associated 
company. 
 
One of the more exciting developments in FY2023 was 
the launch of the Y2Y (Youth to Youth) initiative by mm2 
Entertainment in Singapore. The initiative is a first-of-its-kind 
programme to connect with and benefit young media talents 
in Singapore by providing them with real industry projects 
to work on and opportunities to learn from accomplished 
industry practitioners. Through this initiative, the Group aims 
to discover the next generation of filmmakers and content 
creators; and strengthen its reach and engagement of young 
audiences through the networks of these young talents. 
 
Looking ahead, we are optimistic that the coming year will 
see a strong rebound for most of our business segments. 
The demand for content continues to grow, fuelled by 
intense competition among international streamers in the 
region. We are witnessing massive pent-up demands for live 
concerts, with fans craving concert experiences insatiably 
in the post-pandemic era. We will continue to build on the 
recovery momentum while continuing to exercise financial 
prudence and cost control. 
 
We would like to thank all our valued stakeholders for their 
continued encouragement and support throughout the year. 
We are grateful to our Board of Directors for their invaluable 
guidance and tremendous support. To all our hard-working 
colleagues, a big ‘thank you’ for your devotion and 
indefatigable spirit. I am confident that the experience of the 
past couple of years has forged our resilience and fortitude, 
paving the way for better days ahead.

Chang Long Jong
Chief Executive Officer
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Melvin Ang is the Founder and Executive Chairman of mm2 Asia, responsible for 
supervising the overall business operations and management of the Group, as well as 
business planning and providing executive leadership and supervision to the Group’s 
senior management team. 

Mr Ang graduated from Macquarie University with a Master of Business Administration 
in 1996. In August 1997, he was employed by the Television Corporation of Singapore 
as Vice President, Business Development. Mr Ang was subsequently employed by 
SPH MediaWorks Ltd as Chief Operating Officer of its Media Business Group between 
November 2000 and April 2003. 

Between July 2003 and March 2007, Mr Ang was employed as Managing Director of 
Mediacorp Studios. Before setting up mm2 Malaysia and mm2 Singapore in January 
2009, he served as Media Prima Berhad’s Executive Advisor between July 2007 and 
December 2008.

MELVIN ANG
Founder & Executive Chairman

Tan Liang Pheng is the Group’s Lead Independent Director and Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee. He worked for 35 years in two multinational corporations, 
responsible for their accounting, treasury and financial functions. He later sat on the 
Board of Directors of Tetra Pak Group of Companies in Singapore. In 2009, Mr Tan 
was appointed as General Manager of Iviria Pte. Ltd. and was subsequently promoted 
to Executive Director in 2010. Mr Tan served as Executive Director of Iviria Pte. Ltd. 
until November 2012. 

Mr Tan was admitted as a Fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants (UK) in 2003. He is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants.

TAN LIANG PHENG
Lead Independent Director

Jack Chia is an Independent Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. He 
graduated from the National University of Singapore with a degree in Accountancy 
and from the International University of Japan with a Master of Arts in International 
Relations. Mr Chia is qualified as a Fellow of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants and has also completed the General Manager Program at Harvard 
Business School. 

After twenty years in both the private and public sectors, substantially in Japan and 
China, with Arthur Andersen, Singapore Technologies, Government of Singapore 
Investment Corporation and the Enterprise Singapore Board, Mr Chia decided to 
embark on a career as a professional director, specializing in corporate governance. 

Mr Chia’s present directorships include CFM Holdings Limited, Ying Li International 
Real Estate Limited and CDW Holding Limited. 

JACK CHIA
Independent Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Thomas Lei is an Independent Director and the Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee. He was admitted to the Singapore Bar in 1989 and has been in active 
practice ever since, primarily advising on commercial law and litigation matters. Mr 
Lei was a director of, and is currently, a consultant with Lawrence Chua Practice LLC, 
a law firm based in Singapore. Mr Lei started his career at Chor Pee & Co (later Chor 
Pee and Partners) and subsequently joined the firm of Engelin Teh & Partners in April 
2000. Mr Lei read law at the National University of Singapore where he obtained a 
LL.B. and is a member of the Law Society of Singapore.

THOMAS LEI
Independent Director

Terry Mak is a Non-Executive Director. He is the founder of Media Station Ltd 
which has been providing consultancy services to clients in Information, Media and 
Technology sectors since 2010. In 1991, he joined TVB International Ltd as Divisional 
Manager (Southeast Asia) and, in 2001, was promoted to Assistant General Manager 
to oversee its worldwide content distribution business. After working at TVB for 14 
years, Mr Mak left TVB in 2005, to work for Celestial Pictures Ltd, as its Executive 
Vice President, where he was responsible for managing Celestial’s film library and 
movie channel network. Mr Mak held the position of Chief Operating Officer at MCC 
International Pte. Ltd. between 1 June 2012 and 31 July 2014. 

He graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a Bachelor of Science in 
Chemistry in 1979 and from University of Connecticut in 1981 with an MBA.

TERRY MAK
Non-Executive Director

Dennis Chia was appointed as Non-Executive Director of mm2 Asia Ltd. on 31 
August 2017. Mr Chia is currently the Chief Financial Officer of StarHub Ltd. In his 
prior roles, he was the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of STATS 
ChipPAC (Worldwide), a leading provider of advanced semiconductor packaging 
and test services; Vice President of Finance, Asia Pacific Operations (APO) of Lear 
Corporation; and the Chief Financial Officer of Behringer Corporation and Frontline 
Technologies Corporation, where he led their successful listings on the Singapore 
Exchange. 

Mr Chia is a Chartered Accountant and currently a council member with the Institute 
of Singapore Chartered Accountants. He has a Bachelor’s (Honours) degree in 
Accountancy from the National University of Singapore and also holds a Master’s 
degree in Business Administration from University of Hull, United Kingdom.DENNIS CHIA

Non-Executive Director
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OUR 
TEAM

CHONG HOW KIAT
Chief Financial Officer

With close to 20 years of financial experience 
in property management and development, 
construction and media industries, Chong How 
Kiat is responsible for all finance related matters of 
the Group. 

HOCK ONG
Chief Corporate Development Officer
CEO, Cinema Business

Hock Ong has extensive debt and capital markets 
experience spanning Hong Kong, Malaysia, 
Thailand, Vietnam and China, and has played key 
roles in several multi-million dollar transactions in 
different markets. He oversees the Group’s cinema 
business and is responsible for all corporate finance 
matters related to the Group. 

NG SAY YONG
Chief Content Officer 
Managing Director, mm2 Singapore

Ng Say Yong previously held management positions 
at Mediacorp TV and has produced and directed 
numerous highly-successful TV dramas and films. 
He is responsible for the overall creative content 
development of the Group’s productions. 

LESLIE ONG
CEO & Executive Director, UnUsUaL Limited

With over 20 years of extensive experience in 
concert and evenet production and promotion, 
Leslie Ong is responsible for UnUsUaL’s overall 
management operations, strategic planning and 
business development. 

CHARLES YEO
Chief Creative Officer & Executive Director, 
Vividthree Holdings Ltd.

Charles Yeo is responsible for business 
development and strategy, and raising investments 
for projects for Vividthree. He also provides creative 
direction and input for Vividthree’s projects. He 
has accumulated over 14 years of experience in 
the production and post-production industry, with 
a special focus on digital immersive content for 
location-based entertainment and visual effects, 
since 2003 when he first ventured into the industry 
with Vividthree.

CHANG LONG JONG
Group CEO

Chang Long Jong is our Group CEO and is 
responsible for overseeing and managing the 
Group’s business operations, especially the 
production division, as well as sourcing new 
business opportunities for the Group. Prior to 
joining the Group in April 2017, Mr Chang was 
Deputy CEO and Chief Customer Officer of 
Mediacorp Pte. Ltd. (“Mediacorp”), overseeing all 
of Mediacorp’s major media assets including TV, 
Radio, Newspaper, Magazines and Over-the-Top 
(OTT) service Toggle. He has a 30-year career in 
the business with invaluable experience in channel 
management, content development and production, 
content licensing and distribution, media business 
development and talent management.
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OUR TEAM

JONATHAN ZHANG
CEO & Executive Director,
Vividthree Holdings Ltd.

Mr Zhang is responsible for overseeing the strategic 
direction and operational goals of Vividthree. His 15 
years of professional experience was spread across 
two international banks, three listed companies 
(SGX, ASX and NASDAQ) and private companies 
across industries in management roles with regional 
responsibilities. 

TOONG SOO WEI
General Manager, mm2 Singapore

Previously held management positions at J Team 
Productions, Neo Studios and Homerun Asia, 
Toong Soo Wei has produced over 25 films since 
2008 and is responsible for the overall operations 
of mm2 Singapore. 

GARY GOH
General Manager, mm2 Singapore

Gary heads the New Business Department to drive 
the commercial short form content business. He is 
also responsible for developing movie projects in 
new markets such as Thailand, Indonesia and USA, 
forming business partnerships and spearheading 
market development for the Group.

ANGELIN ONG
General Manager, mm2 Malaysia / North Asia
Chief Operating Officer, Cinema Business

Angelin Ong is vastly experienced in operations 
management, initiating new business ideas, 
brand management and content acquisition and 
distribution across various platforms. She is 
responsible for the overall operations of the Group’s 
cinema business and operations in mm2 Malaysia 
and North Asia markets. 

HA YU
Chief Creative Advisor, mm2 Hong Kong

A veteran actor with over 50 years of experience 
acting, directing and producing films, Ha Yu is 
responsible for the overall creative strategy of the 
mm2 Hong Kong office.
 

RICHARD LIM
General Manager, Cathay Cineplexes

Richard Lim has over 20 years of experience in the 
music industry, spanning from sales to marketing, 
artiste management and running his own music 
company. He is now responsible for the overall 
operations of Cathay Cineplexes. 

MIZUSHIMA EMI
Associate Director, Regional Business 
Development & Corporate Partnerships, Cathay 
Cineplexes

With prior experience in sales and marketing 
spanning across various industries, Mizushima 
Emi’s primary role is to lead her team in achieving 
revenue-driven business goals. These include 
increasing revenue streams and securing strategic 
collaborations in the region for the cinema business.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Melvin Ang Wee Chye
(Executive Chairman & Executive
Director)

Tan Liang Pheng
(Lead Independent Director)

Chia Seng Hee, Jack
(Independent Director)

Lei Chee Kong, Thomas
(Independent Director)

Mak Chi Hoo, Terry
(Non-Executive Director)

Chia Choon Hwee, Dennis
(Non-Executive Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chia Seng Hee, Jack (Chairman)
Tan Liang Pheng
Lei Chee Kong, Thomas

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE
Tan Liang Pheng (Chairman)
Mak Chi Hoo, Terry
Lei Chee Kong, Thomas

NOMINATING
COMMITTEE
Lei Chee Kong, Thomas
(Chairman)
Melvin Ang Wee Chye
Tan Liang Pheng

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lissa Siau Kuei Lian (ACIS)

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN SINGAPORE
1002 Jalan Bukit Merah
#07-11 Redhill Industrial Estate
Singapore 159456 

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN MALAYSIA
B-09-01, 02, 03 
Menara Bata PJ Trade Centre 
No. 8 Jalan PJU 8/8A 
Bandar Damansara Perdana 
47820 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Malaysia

PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG
Workshop No. 2 
1st Floor International Plaza
No. 20 Sheung Yuet Road 
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA
Room 1602
No. 150 Hui Xin International Building
Pu Hui Tang Road
Shanghai, China 200030

SHARE REGISTRAR
B.A.C.S. Private Limited 
77 Robinson Road 
#06-03 Robinson 77
Singapore 068896

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
CLA Global TS Public Accounting 
Corporation
(Formerly known as Nexia TS Public 
Accounting Corporation)
80 Robinson Road 
#25-00 
Singapore 068898 

Engagement director:
Loh Hui Nee
(Appointment with effect from financial 
year ended 31 March 2022) 

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
United Overseas Bank Limited
80 Raffles Place 
UOB Plaza 1
Singapore 048624

Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation
10 Marina Boulevard 
#48-01 Marina Bay 
Financial Centre Tower 2
Singapore 018963

COMPANY WEBSITE
http://www.mm2asia.com

STOCK CODE
1B0

20 MM2 ASIA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CORPORATE
INFORMATION



21MM2 ASIA LTD.ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CORPOORATE GOVVERNANCE
REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the Management (the “Management”) of mm2 Asia Ltd. (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance to ensure investor 

confi dence in the Group as a trusted business enterprise. The Board and the Management of the Company continues to 

uphold good corporate governance practices to enhance long-term sustainability of the Group’s business, performance 

and shareholders’ interest.

This Report describes the Group’s corporate governance structures and practices adopted by the Group for the fi nancial 

year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”), with specifi c reference made to the principles and provisions of the Code of 

Corporate Governance 2018 (last amended 11 January 2023) (the “Code”) and accompanying Practice Guidance, which 

forms part of the continuing obligations of the Listing Manual (“Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The Board believes that it has substantially complied with the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code where 

appropriate. Appropriate explanations have been provided in the relevant sections below where there are deviations from 

the Code.

A. BOARD MATTERS
B. REMUNERATION MATTERS
C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
D. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT
E. MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP

A. BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with 
Management for the long-term success of the company.

Provision 1.1 – Duties of the Board

The Board assumes responsibility for stewardship of the Company and the Group, and is primarily responsible for the 

protection and enhancement of long-term value and returns for the shareholders. It has oversight responsibility over 

the management of the business and affairs of the Group. The Board also sets the tone for the Group where ethics and 

values are concerned.

The Company is headed by an effective Board which comprises six Directors (the “Directors”) of whom the Executive 

Chairman and Executive Director, two Non-Executive Directors and three Independent Directors. Together, the Directors 

command a wide range of business, media, accounting and fi nancial investments experience that collectively contribute 

to the success of the Group. The Board oversees the business activities, overall management, formulate strategic 

direction and performance of the Group and is primarily responsible for the protection and enhancement of long-term 

value and returns for shareholders.

Besides its statutory responsibilities, the Board also:

1. provides entrepreneurial leadership, and guidance on the overall strategic direction, oversees the proper conduct 

of the business, performance and affairs of the Group and ensures that the necessary fi nancial, human and 

operational resources are in place for the Group to meet its objectives;

2. sets objective performance criteria to evaluate the Board, individual Directors and Board Committees’ performance 

and succession planning process;

3. reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal controls framework 

including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology controls and establishing risk appetite and 

parameters to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;

4. reviews and approves key operational and business initiatives, major funding proposals and other corporate 

actions, signifi cant investment and divestment proposals, including determining the Group’s operating and 

fi nancial performance, the Group’s annual budgets and capital expenditure, release of the Group’s fi nancial results 

and other strategic initiatives proposed by Management;



CORPORATE GOVERRNANCE
REPPORT

22 MM2 ASIA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

5. approves all Board appointments/re-appointments and appointment of Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”) and other 

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 

(“Key Management Personnel” or “KMP”), evaluates their performance and reviews their remuneration packages;

6. establishes goals and priorities for Management and reviews Management’s performance by monitoring the 

achievement of these goals;

7. approves the nominations for the Board by the Nominating Committee;

8. reviews recommendations made by the Audit Committee on the appointment, re-appointment or removal of Chief 

Financial Offi cer/Group Financial Controller, independent and internal auditors;

9. reviews recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee and approves the remuneration packages for 

the Board and KMP;

10. identifi es the key stakeholder groups and recognises that their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation;

11. sets the Company’s values and standards (including ethical standards), and ensures that obligations to 

shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met; and

12. considers sustainability issues, e.g. environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation.

Independent Judgement

All Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgment in dealing with the business affairs of the Group and 

are obliged to act in good faith and to take objective decisions in the interest of the Group. The Directors have the 

appropriate core competencies and diversity of experience that enable them to contribute effectively. They are able to 

objectively raise issues and seek clarifi cation as and when necessary from the Board and the Management on matters 

relating to their area of responsibilities and actively help the Management in the development of strategic proposals 

and oversees the effective implementation by the Management to achieve the objectives set. The Board puts in place 

a code of conduct and ethics, set appropriate tone-from-the-top and desired organisation culture and ensure proper 

accountability within the Company.

Confl ict of Interest

Every Director of the Company is required to disclose any confl ict or potentially confl ict of interest, whether direct or 

indirect, in relation to a transaction or proposed transaction within the Group as soon as practicable after the relevant 

facts have come to his knowledge. On an annual basis, each Director is also required to submit details of his associates 

for the purpose of monitoring interested person transactions. When there is confl ict or potential confl ict of interest, the 

concerned Directors shall, abstain from voting, and recuse themselves from discussion or decision making involving the 

issue of confl ict and related matters.

Provision 1.2 – Directors’ Orientation and Training

All newly-appointed Directors attend an orientation programme to familiarise themselves with the Group’s business, 

operations and governance practices. The Board has the opportunity to visit/participate in concerts and/or events hosted 

by the Company and meet with the Management to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business operations. 

In addition, Directors are provided with the contact numbers and email addresses of key executives, the Company 

Secretary and Auditors to facilitate effi cient and direct access of information to make informed decision to properly 

discharge their duties and responsibilities. A formal letter of appointment would be furnished to every newly-appointed 

Director upon their appointment explaining, among other matters, their roles, obligations, duties and responsibilities as 

member of the Board. There was no new Director appointed during the fi nancial year.

To keep pace with a fast-changing regulatory environment, the Board is kept informed of any relevant changes to 

legislation and regulatory requirements. New releases issued by the SGX-ST and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory 

Authority (“ACRA”) which are relevant to the Directors are also circulated to the Board. The Company Secretary and her 

representatives inform the Directors of upcoming conferences and seminars relevant to their roles as Directors of the 

Company as well as the key amendments and impact of the Code and Listing Manual of the SGX-ST requirements. The 

Independent Auditors would update the Audit Committee and the Board on new and revised fi nancial reporting standards 

annually.
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Directors and Management also attend courses to keep abreast of changes in the law and governance matters that may 

affect the Group. The Board values ongoing professional development and recognises the importance of all Directors 

receiving regular training so as to be able to serve effectively on and contribute to the Board.

The Company had arranged for all the Directors to undergo a one-time training on sustainability reporting. As at the 

date of this annual report, all Directors of the Company have attended and completed the sustainability training courses 

conducted by providers that represent different constituencies in the capital markets.

The Board as a whole is updated regularly on risk management, corporate governance, insider trading (if any) and key 

changes to the relevant regulatory requirements and fi nancial standards, so as to enable them to properly discharge their 

duties as Board or Board Committee members. The Independent Directors are also engaged full time in their respective 

professions, keeping them updated in their fi elds of knowledge.

In FY2023, the independent auditor, Messrs CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation (“CLA”) briefed the AC and 

Board on the developments in fi nancial reporting standards.

Provision 1.3 – Board Approval

The Group has adopted internal guidelines governing matters that require the Board’s approval which has been clearly 

communicated to the Management.

The Board approves transactions exceeding certain threshold limits, while delegating authority for transactions below 

those prescribed limits to Board Committees and specifi c members of the key management via a structured Delegation 

of Authority matrix, which is reviewed on a regular basis and accordingly revised when necessary.

The matters require Board’s approval include:

• annual budget, corporate strategies and business plans;

• material and/or signifi cant acquisition and disposal of assets/investments;

• corporate/fi nancial restructurings;

• incorporation and dissolution of subsidiaries and/or associates entities;

• any non-ordinary business agreement, e.g. joint venture agreement, investment, guarantee, banking facilities, profi t 

sharing agreement;

• fi nancing activities;

• issuance of shares, declaration of dividend and other returns to shareholders;

• risk appetite and risk tolerance for different categories of risk;

• nomination of Directors and KMP;

• matters as specifi ed under the SGX-ST’s interested person transaction policy;

• announcements or press releases of the Group’s fi nancial results and the release of the Annual Reports; and

• any other matters as prescribed under the relevant legislations and regulations, as well as the provisions of the 

Company’s Constitution.

While matters relating in particular to the Company’s objectives, strategies and policies require the Board’s direction and 

approval, Management is responsible for the day-to-day operation and administration of the Company in accordance with 

the objectives, strategies and policies set by the Board.



CORPORATE GOVERRNANCE
REPPORT

24 MM2 ASIA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Provision 1.4 – Delegation by the Board to Board Committees

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board had established three Board Committees. The Committees are 

the Audit Committee (“AC”), Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”) (collectively, “Board 
Committees”) and delegates specifi c areas of responsibilities to these Board Committees. Each of the Board Committee 

functions within clearly written terms of reference (“TOR”), which have been approved by the Board. The composition of 

the Board Committees for FY2023 is tabulated below:

Directors AC NC RC

Melvin Ang Wee Chye (“Melvin Ang”) – Member –

Tan Liang Pheng (“Tan Liang Pheng”) Member Member Chairman

Jack Chia Seng Hee (“Jack Chia”) Chairman – –

Thomas Lei Chee Kong (“Thomas Lei”) Member Chairman Member

Dennis Chia Choon Hwee (“Dennis Chia”) – – –

Terry Mak Chi Hoo (“Terry Mak”) – – Member

The Board Committees have the delegated power to deliberate any issue that arises in their specifi c areas of 

responsibilities within their respective TOR and report to the Board with their decisions and/or recommendations. The 

ultimate responsibility and authority for the decisions and actions on all matters rests with the Board. Each Board 

Committee’s activities and roles are elaborated further in Provisions 4.1, 6.1 and 10.1.

Provision 1.5 – Board Meetings and Attendance
Provision 1.6 – Access of Information

The Board and Board Committees meet regularly and whenever necessary to discharge their duties. When required, the 

Board also sets aside time at the scheduled meetings to meet without the presence of Management. An annual schedule 

of Board and Board Committee meeting dates is set by the Directors in advance.

Ad-hoc meetings are convened when required to address any signifi cant issues that may arise in-between scheduled 

meetings. Where physical meetings are not possible, timely communication with members of the Board and Board 

Committees is achieved through electronic means and circulation of written resolutions for approval by the Board or 

relevant Board Committees. The Company’s Constitution (“Constitution”) provides that the Directors may conduct 

meetings by means of telephone or video conference or other methods of simultaneous communication.

All draft agendas for meetings are reviewed by the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the respective Board 

Committees. Board papers and/or other information are forwarded to the Directors prior to the meeting for their 

review and perusal. Members of Management are invited to attend the meetings to present information and/or render 

clarifi cation when required. However, sensitive matters may be tabled or discussed at Board meetings without any board 

papers distributed. Board and Board Committees papers are provided electronically and can be accessed via tablet 

devices.

Presentations are also made by senior executives on performance of the Group’s business and business strategies at 

these meetings. This allows the Board to have a good understanding of the Group’s operations and be actively engaged 

in robust discussions with the Group’s senior executives.
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Directors are entitled to request for further explanation, briefi ngs or discussions on any aspect of the Group’s operations 

or business from Management. As and when required, Board members meet to exchange views outside the formal 

environment of Board meetings. The number of meetings held by the Board and Board Committees and attendance 

records taken during FY2023 are as follows:

Name of Director

Annual
General
Meeting

Extraordinary
General
Meeting Board Meeting NC Meeting RC Meeting AC Meeting

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

No.
Held

No.
Attended

Melvin Ang 1 1 1 1 4 4 1 1 NA NA NA NA

Tan Liang Pheng 1 1 1 1 4 4 1 1 1 1 4 4

Jack Chia 1 1 1 1 4 4 NA NA NA NA 4 4

Thomas Lei 1 1 1 1 4 4 1 1 1 1 4 4

Dennis Chia 1 1 1 - 4 3 NA NA NA NA NA NA

Terry Mak 1 1 1 1 4 4 NA NA 1 1 NA NA

NA: Not applicable

Provision 1.7 – Independent Access to Management and Company Secretary

The Board has separate and independent access to Management and the Company Secretary where required, to obtain 

additional information to facilitate informed decision-making. Information provided includes background or explanatory 

materials related to matters to be reviewed and matters under review by the Board, copies of disclosure documents, 

budgets, forecasts and internal fi nancial statements. Any material variance between the projections and actual results in 

respect of budgets, is also disclosed and explained.

Minutes of the Board and Board Committee meetings which provide a fair and accurate record of the discussions and 

key deliberations and decisions taken during the meetings, are circulated and made available to the Board and Board 

Committees so that Directors are aware of and kept updated as to the proceedings and matters discussed during such 

meetings.

The Company Secretary and/or her representatives attend the Board and Board Committees meetings and are 

responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are observed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

The Company Secretary and/or her representatives also periodically update the Board on relevant regulatory changes 

affecting the Company. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

Access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense

The Company has in place the procedure to enable the Directors, whether as a group or individually, to obtain 

independent professional advice at the Company’s expense as and when necessary in furtherance of their duties. 

Independent advisors include legal, fi nancial, tax, board compensation and merger & acquisition functions. The 

appointment of such professional advisor is subject to approval by the Board.
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Principle 2: The board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its 
composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company. 

Board Composition and Guidance

Provision 2.1 – Board Independence
Provisions 2.2 and 2.3 – Proportion of Non-Executive and Independent Directors
Provision 2.4 – Board Composition & Diversity
Provision 2.5 – Meetings of Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors

The Board comprises six Directors, of whom the Executive Chairman and Executive Director, three independent and Non-

Executive Directors (the “Independent and Non-Executive Directors”) and two Non-Executive Directors. Majority of the 

Board is made up of Non-Executive Directors which is in compliance with Provision 2.3 of the Code. The Chairman is not 

independent and the Independent Directors of the Company do not make up a majority of the Board as recommended 

by Provision 2.2 of the Code, the Board and the NC are satisfi ed that the Board has substantial independent elements to 

ensure that objective judgment is exercised on corporate affair as matters requiring the Board’s approval are discussed 

and deliberated with participation from each member of the Board and all major decisions are made collectively. There is 

no individual or small group of individuals that dominate the Board’s decision-making process. The NC will continue to 

review the Board composition and size as and when the circumstances arise and make appropriate recommendations to 

the Board. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Melvin Ang (Executive Chairman and Executive Director)

Tan Liang Pheng (Lead Independent Director)

Jack Chia (Independent and Non-Executive Director)

Thomas Lei (Independent and Non-Executive Director)

Terry Mak (Non-Executive Director)

Dennis Chia (Non-Executive Director)

The NC reviews annually the independence of each Director taking into account the existence relationships or 

circumstances, including those provided in the Code. Every Independent and Non-Executive Director is required 

to complete a confi rmation of independence form drawn up based on Principle 2 of the Code for the NC review and 

recommendation to the Board. None of the Independent and Non-Executive Directors and their immediate family member 

are a substantial shareholder of or partner in or an executive offi cer of or a Director of, any organisation to which the 

Company or any of its subsidiaries made, or from which the Company or any of its subsidiaries received, signifi cant 

payments or materials services aggregated over any fi nancial year in excess of $50,000 (to an individual) or $200,000 (to 

a fi rm), which may include auditing, banking, consulting and legal services, in the current or immediate past fi nancial year.

Taking into consideration the foregoing, the NC has determined that Tan Liang Pheng, Jack Chia and Thomas Lei, to be 

independent. Each of these Directors has also confi rmed their independence.

The Board concurred with the views of the NC. Each of the Independent Director abstained from the deliberation of his 

own independence. 

The Company recognises that Independent Directors may over time develop signifi cant insights in the Group’s business 

and operations, and can continue to provide noteworthy and valuable contribution objectively to the Board as a whole. 

The independence of the Independent Directors must be based on the substance of their professionalism, integrity and 

objectivity, and not merely based on the number of years which they have served on the Board.

The dates of appointment and last re-election of each Director are set out below:

Name of Director Designation Date of appointment Date of last re-election

Melvin Ang Executive Chairman and Executive Director 20 August 2014 17 September 2020

Tan Liang Pheng Lead Independent Director 4 November 2014 29 July 2022

Jack Chia Independent Director 4 November 2014 29 July 2022

Thomas Lei Independent Director 4 November 2014 30 July 2021

Terry Mak Non-Executive Director 4 November 2014 30 July 2021

Dennis Chia Non-Executive Director 31 August 2017 17 September 2020
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The profi le of the Directors including their academic and professional qualifi cations and other appointments are set out on 

pages 31 to 33 of this Annual Report.

The NC noted that none of the Independent and Non-Executive Directors has served on the Board beyond nine years 

from the date of his fi rst appointment. To-date, none of the Independent and Non-Executive Directors of the Company 

has been appointed as Director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, which is based in Singapore and overseas.

The Board and Board Committees are made up of a team of high caliber leaders whose diverse expertise and experience 

in accounting and fi nance, strategic planning, business administration and management, legal, regulatory and media 

knowledge. Accordingly, the current Board comprises persons who as a group, have core competencies necessary 

to lead and govern the Group effectively. The Directors’ objective judgment, collective experience and knowledge are 

invaluable to the Group and this has allowed for the useful exchange of ideas and views.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 14 July 2023 to assist the NC and the Board in identifying 

prospective candidates for directorship that meet the criteria as determined by the NC and that support the diversity’s 

objectives. The Board Diversity Policy promotes the diversity among the Directors in order to improve performance and 

to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate and ensure that composition is optimal to support the Group’s needs 

in the short-term and long-term goals. The diversity includes the appropriate mix of complementary skills, business and 

industry experience, gender, age, ethnicity, geographic background, length of service and other distinctive qualities of 

the board members. The Company recognises that an effective Board requires Directors to possess not only integrity, 

commitment, relevant experiences, qualifi cations and skills in carrying out their duties effectively but also include right 

blend of skills, industry knowledge and diverse background towards promoting good corporate governance.

In concurrence with the NC, the Board is of the view that the current board members have the appropriate structure, 

size, diversity and composition to provide effective guidance and make decisions in the best interests of the Group. Each 

Director has been appointed based on the strength of his calibre, experience, grasp of corporate strategy and potential 

contribution to the Company and its business. As there is currently no female Director appointed to the Board, the Board 

does not rule out the possibility of appointing a female Director if a suitable candidate is nominated for the Board’s 

consideration.

As the NC has assessed the current level of diversity on the Board to be satisfactory, the Company generally does not 

set concrete timeline for achieving board diversity targets. Instead, the Company takes the approach that maintaining a 

satisfactory level of diversity as an ongoing process. The targets to achieve diversity on the Board are assessed from time 

to time, based on the composition of the Board and operations of the Group at the relevant time.

The NC reviews the size and composition of the Board and Board Committees of the Company to ensure that the size 

of the Board and Board Committees is conducive to effective discussion and decision-making and that the Board and 

Board Committees have the appropriate mix of skills, knowledge and experience as well as an appropriate balance of 

Independent Directors. The NC, with the concurrence of the Board and Board Committees, considers their current board 

size appropriate for effective decision-making and provide appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience and 

knowledge of the Company, taking into account the scope and nature of the Group’s operations.

The Independent and Non-Executive Directors exercise objective judgment on the Group’s affairs independently from 

Management. The Independent and Non-Executive Directors also contribute to the Board process by monitoring 

and reviewing Management’s performance against goals and objectives. Their views and opinions provide alternate 

perspectives to the Group’s business. When challenging Management’s proposals or decisions, they bring independent 

judgment to bear on business activities and transactions involving confl icts of interest and other complexities. The 

Independent and Non-Executive Directors also meet regularly without presence of Management to facilitate more open 

discussions and feedback was thereafter provided to the Chairman of the Board after such meeting.

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, and 
no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Provision 3.1 – Chairman and CEO should be separate persons

The roles of the Chairman and CEO are separate to ensure an appropriate balance of power, and accountability to 

achieve greater independent decision-making to the Board.

Melvin Ang, was appointed as the Executive Chairman of the Board on 20 August 2014 and Chang Long Jong was 

appointed as the CEO of the Company on 3 April 2017. Both the Chairman and the CEO are not related to each other 

and will act independently in their own capacity.
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Provision 3.2 – Role of Chairman and CEO

The Chairman presides over the business of the Board and monitors the translation of the Board’s decisions and 

directions into executive action. In addition, the Chairman provides close oversight, guidance, advice and leadership 

to the CEO and Key Management Personnel. The Chairman also plays a crucial role in fostering constructive dialogue 

between shareholders, the Board and Management at the Company’s general meeting. The Chairman leads the 

Company’s drive to achieve and maintain a high standard of corporate governance with the full support of the Board, 

Management and Company Secretary.

The Chairman leads the Board and ensures the effectiveness on all aspects of its role. His responsibilities include, inter 

alia:

1. constructively determining and approving, with the full Board, the Company’s strategy;

2. ensuring that the Board is properly organised, functioning effectively and meeting its obligations and 

responsibilities;

3. setting the agenda and ensuring adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular, 

strategic issues;

4. ensuring that Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;

5. fostering effective communication and constructive relations amongst the Directors, within Board Committees, 

between shareholders, between the Directors and Management;

6. encouraging the constructive exchange of views within the Board and between board members and Management;

7. facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive and Independent Directors;

8. promoting a culture of openness and debate at the board level and promoting high standards of corporate 

governance; and

9. establishing a relationship of trust with the CEO.

The role of CEO includes overseeing and managing the business operations, especially the production division, as well as 

sourcing new business opportunities for the Group. The CEO would report to the Executive Chairman.

All major decisions made by the Board are subject to majority approval of the Board. The Board believes that there are 

adequate safeguards in place to ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority within the spirit of good corporate 

governance.

Provision 3.3 – Lead Independent Director

As the Executive Chairman is not independent, to be in compliance with Provision 3.3 of the Code, the Board has 

appointed Tan Liang Pheng as the Lead Independent Director to lead the Independent Directors, to provide independent 

view and foster constructive discussion. He also acts as the main liaison on board issues and is available to shareholders 

where they have concerns and for which contact through the normal channels of communication with the Executive 

Chairman or Management are inappropriate or inadequate. The Independent Directors, led by Tan Liang Pheng meet at 

least once annually without the presence of the Executive Directors to discuss matters of signifi cance, which are thereon 

reported to the Board and/or Chairman accordingly.

Board Membership

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

Provisions 4.1 and 4.2 – Nominating Committee Composition and Role

The Board established the NC in 2014 which comprises two Non-Executive and Independent Directors and one Executive 

Director, a majority of whom including the Chairman of the NC are independent. The Lead Independent Director, Tan 

Liang Pheng is also a member of the NC. Please refer to Provision 1.4 above on the names of the members and the 

composition of the NC.
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The NC, which has written terms of reference, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on all board 

appointments and re-appointments. The NC’s responsibilities include the following:

a) make recommendations to the Board on new appointments and re-appointment of Directors (including Alternate 

Director, if any) to the Board;

b) make recommendations to the Board on the re-nomination of retiring Directors standing for re-election at the 

Company’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), having regard to the Directors’ contribution and performance (e.g. 

attendance, preparedness, participation and candour);

c) ensure that all Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals and at least once 

in every three years;

d) review of succession plans for Directors, in particular the appointment and/or replacement of the Chairman, the 

CEO and KMP;

e) review the process and criteria for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Board Committees and 

individual Directors;

f) review the size and composition of the Board with the objective of achieving a balanced board in terms of the mix 

of experience and expertise;

g) determine annually whether or not a Director is independent;

h) in respect of a Director who has multiple board representation on various companies, to decide whether or 

not such Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as Director, having regard to the 

competing time commitments that are faced when service on multiple boards;

i) review and approve any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their employment;

j) ensure complete disclosure of key information of Directors in the Company’s annual reports as required under the 

Code;

k) decide on how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and recommend objective performance criteria to the 

Board;

l) report to the Board on its activities and proposals;

m) review training and professional development programs for the Board, if necessary; and

n) carry out such other duties as may be agreed by the NC and the Board.

Provision 4.3 – Reviewing and Recommending Nomination for Re-appointment of Directors

The NC is responsible for identifying and recommending new Directors to the Board, after considering the necessary 

and desirable competencies. In selecting potential new Directors, the NC will seek to identify the competencies 

required as well as evaluate the profession, knowledge and experience of the candidate to enable the Board to fulfi l 

its responsibilities. The NC may engage consultants to undertake research on, or assess candidates applying for new 

positions on the Board, or to engage such other independent experts, as it considers necessary to carry out its duties 

and responsibilities. Recommendations for new Directors are put to the Board for consideration and/or approval.

Under the Listing Rule 720(5) of the SGX-ST and Regulation 110 of the Constitution, require all Directors to submit 

themselves for re-nomination and re-election at least once every three years, and at least one-third of the Directors for 

the time being to retire from offi ce by rotation. New Directors appointed during the year are subject to retirement and 

re-election at the following AGM of the Company in accordance to Regulation 120 of the Constitution. The NC makes 

recommendation to the Board on re-appointment of Directors based on, among others, the Director’s attendance, 

preparedness, participation at Board and Board Committees meetings, his qualifi cation, experience and expertise and the 

time and effort dedicated to the activities of each Board Committee and contributions to the Group’s business and affairs, 

including the Management’s access to the Directors for guidance or exchange of views as and when necessary.
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The Board and the NC have endeavoured to ensure that the Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant 

experience, knowledge and expertise critical to the Group’s business.

Melvin Ang and Dennis Chia are subject to retiring pursuant to Regulation 110 of the Constitution at the forthcoming 

AGM of the Company. The Board has accepted the NC’s nominations of the retiring Directors who have given their 

consents for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company after taking into consideration the retiring Directors’ 

attendance, participation and contribution to the business and operations of the Company as well as the board 

processes.

Each of these Directors, being interested in the matter, had abstained from all discussions and recommendations in 

respect of their own re-election.

Information regarding the Directors nominated for re-election/re-appointment, including the information required under 

Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Rules is given in the “Board of Directors” section, pages 47 to 50 of this Annual Report.

Provision 4.4 – Continuous Review of Director’s Independence

The NC is guided by the defi nition and criteria of independence given in the Code in determining if a Director is 

independent.

NC has annually, and as and when circumstances require, determined if a Director is independent bearing in mind the 

circumstances and other salient factors set forth in Provision 2.1 of the Code. Any Director who has served on the Board 

beyond nine years from the date of his fi rst appointment is subject to particularly rigorous review by the NC.

Each Independent Director is required to complete a Confi rmation of Independence form drawn up based on Principle 2 

of the Code for the NC’s review and recommendation to the Board.

For the fi nancial year under review, the Board concurred with the NC’s view that the three Independent Directors are 

independent (as defi ned in the Code) and in character and judgement and there were no circumstances which would 

likely affect or appear to affect their independent judgement in the best interest of the Company.

During FY2023, there was no appointment of Alternate Directors on the Board.

Provision 4.5 – Directors’ Commitments

Where a Director has multiple board representations, the NC will determine if the Director has been able to devote 

suffi cient time and attention to the Company’s affairs and if he has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director. 

The recommendation of the NC for the nomination of a Director for re-election is made to the Board. The Board will 

review this recommendation.

The NC is of the view that the number of directorships a Director can hold and his principal commitments should not 

be prescriptive as the time commitment for each board membership will vary. The NC will review the number of listed 

company board representations which each Director holds on an annual basis or from time to time when the need arises. 

In this respect, the NC believes that it would not be necessary to prescribe a maximum number of listed company board 

representations a Director may hold. The Board affi rms and supports this view.

During the year, the NC had reviewed the directorships and principal commitments disclosed by each Director and was of 

the view that the existing directorships and principal commitments of the respective Directors have not impinged on their 

abilities to discharge their duties. The Board concurred with the NC.
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The table below - Key Information of Directors, shows the disclosure of directorships and chairmanships held over the 

preceding three years in other listed companies as well as other principal commitments of each respective Director: 

Key Information of Directors

Name of Director

Academic & 
professional 
qualifi cations Designation

Past directorships in 
other listed companies 

and other major 
appointments over the 
preceding three years

Present 
directorships in 

other listed 
companies and

other major 
appointments

Melvin Ang Master of Business 

Administration from 

Macquarie University

Executive Chairman 

and Executive Director, 

and member of NC

Nil  Unusual Limited

 mm2 Entertainment

 Pte. Ltd.

 mm2 Entertainment 

Sdn. Bhd.

 UnUsUaL 

Management Pte. 

Ltd.

 Cathay Cineplexes 

Pte Ltd

 mm2 Entertainment 

Hong Kong Limited

 MA Holdings 

Management 

Company Limited

 mmLive Pte. Ltd. 

 MMSync Pte. Ltd.

Tan Liang Pheng  Member of 

the Institute of 

Singapore Chartered 

Accountants

 Fellow Member 

of Association of 

Chartered Certifi ed 

Accountants (UK)

Lead Independent 

Director, Chairman of 

RC and member of AC 

and NC

Nil  Kimeda Pte. Ltd.

Jack Chia  Degree in 

Accountancy from 

National University 

of Singapore

 Master of Arts 

in International 

Relations from 

International 

University of Japan

 Fellow, Institute of 

Singapore Chartered 

Accountants

 General Manager 

Program at Harvard 

Business School

Independent Director 

and Chairman of AC

 Combine Will 

International 

Holdings Limited

 Debao Property 

Development Ltd.

 China Shenshan 

Orchard Holdings 

Co. Ltd.

 Ying Li International 

Real Estate Limited

 CDW Holding Limited

 CFM Holdings 

Limited
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Name of Director

Academic & 
professional 
qualifi cations Designation

Past directorships in 
other listed companies 

and other major 
appointments over the 
preceding three years

Present 
directorships in 

other listed 
companies and

other major 
appointments

Thomas Lei  Bachelor of Laws 

from National 

University of 

Singapore

 Member of the 

Law Society of 

Singapore

Independent Director, 

Chairman of NC and 

member of AC and RC

Nil Nil

Terry Mak   Master of 

Business 

Administration 

from University of 

Connecticut

 Bachelor of 

Science in 

Chemistry from 

Hong Kong 

Baptist University

Non-Executive

Director and

member of RC

 Land Plus Ltd 

 FM Telemedia Ltd

 Media Station Ltd

Dennis Chia  Bachelor’s 

(Honours) Degree 

in Accountancy 

from the National 

University of 

Singapore

 Master’s Degree 

in Business 

Administration 

from University 

of Hull, United 

Kingdom

Non-Executive 

Director

 Lear Automotive 

Corporation 

Singapore Pte. 

Ltd.

 Bloomeria Limited

 Starhub Internet 

Pte Ltd

 Starhub (Mauritius) 

Ltd.

 StarHub Mobile Pte 

Ltd

 Starhub Cable 

Vision Ltd.

 Starhub Online Pte. 

Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity 

Pte. Ltd.

 StarHub (Hong 

Kong) Limited

 StarHub Shop Pte 

Ltd

 StarHub, Inc.

 JOS (SG) Pte. Ltd.

 JOS Applications 

(S) Pte. Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity

 (Systems) Pte. Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity

 (Asia Pacifi c) Pte. 

Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity

 (Cybersecurity) Pte. 

Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity

 (SmartTech) Pte. 

Ltd.

 Malaren 

International

 Sdn. Bhd. 
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Name of Director

Academic & 
professional 
qualifi cations Designation

Past directorships in 
other listed companies 

and other major 
appointments over the 
preceding three years

Present 
directorships in 

other listed 
companies and

other major 
appointments

 HKBN JOS 

(Malaysia) Sdn. 

Bhd.

 Nettilling Sdn. Bhd.

 Taman Kenyir 

Holdings Sdn. Bhd.

 Antina Pte. Ltd.

 Kydon Holdings 

Pte. Ltd.

 Spendid Pte. Ltd.

 Chief Financial 

Offi cer of Starhub 

Ltd.

Board Performance

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of 
its board committees and individual directors.

Provision 5.1 – Performance Criteria and Evaluation
Provision 5.2 – Assessment of the Board, Board Committees and Individual Directors

Based on the recommendations by the NC, the Board has established processes and objective performance criteria for 

evaluating the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and each of its Board Committees and individual Directors. Such 

processes are aimed to assess whether each Director continues to contribute effectively and demonstrate commitment to 

the role.

During the fi nancial year under review, each Director was required to complete the evaluation form and individual 

Director’s annual assessments adopted by the NC on the overall effectiveness of the Board as a whole, Board 

Committees, and each Director’s contributions, and the results have been collated by the Chairman of the NC for review 

or discussion.

In evaluating the Board’s performance, the NC considers a set of quantitative and qualitative performance criteria. 

The performance criteria for the Board evaluation are in respect of board size and composition, board process, board 

information and accountability, board performance in relation to discharging its principal functions and responsibilities 

and fi nancial targets. The individual Directors’ performance criteria were in relation to their industry knowledge and/or 

functional expertise, contribution and workload requirements, sense of independence and attendance at the Board and 

Board Committee meetings.

The NC evaluated the performance of the Board as a whole, each of its Board Committee and individual Directors taking 

into consideration the Board’s discharge of its principal responsibilities and Board’s deliberation of Company’s long-

term strategy. The NC considered the Board’s performance to be satisfactory and met its performance objectives. In 

addition, the NC also satisfi ed that suffi cient time and attention has been given by the Directors to the affairs of the 

Company, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representation. The Board concurred with the 

NC’s recommendation.

No external facilitator was used in the evaluation process. However, if need arises, the NC has full authority to engage 

external facilitator to assist the NC to carry out the evaluation process at the Company’s expense.
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B. REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive 
remuneration, and for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management personnel. 
No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Provisions 6.1 and 6.2 – Remuneration Committee Composition and Role 
Provision 6.3 – Reviewing of Remuneration Terms
Provision 6.4 – Remuneration Consultants

The Board established the RC in 2014 which comprises three Non-Executive and Independent Directors, all of whom 

including the Chairman of the RC are independent. Please refer to Provision 1.4 above on the names of the members and 

the composition of the RC.

The members of the RC carried out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference, which include the following:

a) make recommendations to the Board on the framework of remuneration for the Directors and Executive Offi cers;

b) make recommendations to the Board on the specifi c remuneration packages for each Executive Director, CEO, 

Chief Operating Offi cer (or executive of equivalent rank) and KMP of the Company. If such KMP is not an 

Executive Director, such recommendations must be submitted for endorsement by the entire Board and should 

cover all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Director’s fee, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options 

and benefi ts in kind;

c) review all benefi ts (including share schemes) and compensation packages for Directors, Executive Directors and 

KMP of the Company;

d) report to the Board on its activities and proposals; and

e) carry out such other duties as may be agreed by the RC and the Board.

The Company adopts a formal procedure for the fi xing of the remuneration packages of individual Directors, CEO and 

KMP. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The Directors’ fee to be paid to the Non-Executive and 

Independent Directors are subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

The RC may, from time to time and where necessary, seek advice from external remuneration consultant in framing 

the remuneration policy and determining the level and mix of remuneration for Directors and KMP. The Board has not 

engaged any external remuneration consultant to advise on remuneration matters in FY2023.

The RC reviews the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of Executive Directors and KMP’s contracts 

of service to ensure such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable termination clauses.
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Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are appropriate 
and proportionate to sustained performance and value creation of the company, taking into account the strategic 
objectives of the company.

Provision 7.1 – Remuneration of Executive Directors and KMP 
Provision 7.2 – Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 
Provision 7.3 – Appropriateness of Remuneration

In setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into account pay and employment conditions within the same 

industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and the performance of individual 

Directors. The RC also ensures that the remuneration policies support the Company’s objectives and strategies.

As part of its review, the RC ensures that the performance-related elements of remuneration form an appropriate part 

of the total remuneration package of the KMP and that each package is designed to align their interests with those 

of shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual performance. The RC will review the key performance 

indicators (“KPIs”) of the KMP and such KPIs will be tied to the profi tability of the specifi c business which the individuals 

are managing.

Executive Director does not receive Director’s fee. The remuneration policy for Executive Director and KMP comprising 

two key components, that is, fi xed cash and annual variable components. The fi xed components include salary and 

other allowances. The variable component comprises a performance-based bonus which forms a signifi cant proportion 

of the total remuneration package of Executive Director and KMP and is payable on the achievement of individual and 

corporate performance targets. The Executive Director’s performance bonus would be calculated based on a percentage 

of the Group’s audited consolidated profi t before tax attributable to non-controlling interests but before abovementioned 

performance-based bonus (“PBT”) for each fi nancial year, provided that the PBT is not less than $2 million for that 

fi nancial year.

The service contract for the Executive Chairman and Executive Director is annual renewal and the service contract of the 

CEO has a fi xed appointment period of two years and clauses relating to termination. The Executive Director’s and CEO’s 

service contracts are renewable and would be subject to RC and Board approval. None of the service contracts has any 

onerous removal clauses.

Non-Executive and Independent Directors, including the Non-Executive Directors, have no service contract with 

the Company and their terms are specifi ed in the Constitution of the Company. The Independent and Non-Executive 

Directors are paid with a basic fee for serving as Director and any of the Board Committees roles. In determining the 

quantum of such fees, factors such as time spent and responsibilities of Directors are taken into account. Such fees are 

subject to the approval of the shareholders at the AGM of the Company.

The Company has adopted the mm2 Performance Share Plan (“mm2 PSP”). The Group’s Executive Chairman and 

Executive Director and Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Directors), controlling shareholders or associates 

of a controlling shareholder are eligible to participate in the mm2 PSP in accordance with the Rules of the mm2 PSP. The 

mm2 PSP are administered by the RC which consists of Tan Liang Pheng, Thomas Lei and Terry Mak. There have been 

no options granted under the mm2 PSP in FY2023.

There are, at present, no contractual provisions allowing the Company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration 

from Executive Director and Executive Offi cers in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of fi nancial results, or of 

misconduct resulting in fi nancial loss to the Company. The Executive Director owes a fi duciary duty to the Company. The 

Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against the Executive Director in the event of such breach of fi duciary 

duties.
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the 
procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value 
creation.

Provision 8.1 – Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel

Directors

A breakdown of compensation table of Directors’ remuneration from the Company for FY2023 is set out below:

 
Name of Director Salary

Bonus/ 
Profi t Sharing

Other 
Benefi ts(1) Fees Total

% % % % %

Below $250,000
Melvin Ang   85 10 5 – 100

Tan Liang Pheng   – – – 100 100

Jack Chia   – – – 100 100

Thomas Lei   – – – 100 100

Terry Mak   – – – 100 100

Dennis Chia   – – – 100 100

Note:
(1) Other benefi ts refer to employer’s contribution to the Central Provident Fund and other allowances

In view of confi dentiality of remuneration matters due to its sensitive nature and the long-term performance of the Group, 

especially in a highly competitive industry, the Board is of the opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group not to 

disclose the exact details of the remuneration of each Directors in the Annual Report and that the disclosure based on the 

above remuneration bands is appropriate.

Key Management Personnel

A summary compensation table of the KMP receiving remuneration from the Company for FY2023 appended below:

Remuneration Band &
Name of Key Management Personnel  Salary Bonus

Other
Benefi ts(1) Total

% % % %

Below $250,000
Chang Long Jong (CEO)  96 – 4 100

Ong Hock Seng  92 – 8 100

Chong How Kiat  100 – – 100

Angelin Ong  88 – 12 100

Ng Say Yong  93 – 7 100

Note:
(1) Other benefi ts refer to employer’s contribution to the Central Provident Fund and other allowances
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The disclosure of the KMP’s remuneration in bands of $250,000 (based on gross remuneration received and inclusive 

of employer’s contributions to the Central Provident Fund) is as set out in the above table. Due to sensitivity and 

confi dentiality reasons, the Company believes that disclosure of their remuneration in bands of $250,000 should be 

suffi cient to provide an insight into the link between their compensation and performance. Further details are deemed 

to be not in the interest of the Company due to the competitiveness of the industry for key talents. The aggregate 

remuneration paid to the aforesaid KMP (who are not Directors or CEO of the Company) in FY2023 is amounted to 

$548,435.

The Board is of the view that notwithstanding the deviation from Provision 8.1 of the Code, the Company is transparent 

on its remuneration policies, which has been disclosed not only as part of compliance with Principle 8 but also in 

respect of Principle 7 of the Code. In particular, the Company has elaborated on the remuneration policy governing the 

remuneration of the Executive Director and the factors taken into account for the remuneration of the Non-Executive and 

Independent Directors. The Company has also disclosed the remuneration paid to each Director and key management 

personnel using percentage terms and remuneration bands, as well as the breakdown of the components of their 

remuneration, for transparency. Accordingly, the Board is of the view that the non-disclosure of the exact quantum of the 

remuneration of each Director and key management personnel will not be prejudicial to the interest of shareholders and 

complies with the intent of Provision 8.1 of the Code.

The RC has reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the Executive Director and key management 

personnel, having regard to their contributions as well as the fi nancial performance and commercial needs of the 

Group and has ensured that the Executive Director and key management personnel are adequately but not excessively 

remunerated. The RC will consider and deliberate on the performance conditions to which Executive Director and 

key management personnel entitlement to short-term and long-term incentive schemes and will make the necessary 

disclosures as and when it deems necessary.

Provision 8.2 – Employees who are substantial shareholders of the company, or are immediate family member of 
Directors, CEO or Substantial Shareholder of the company whose remuneration amounts exceed $100,000 per 
annum

The basis of determining the remuneration of the related employees is the same as the basis of determining the 

remuneration of other unrelated employees.

There were no employees who are substantial shareholders of the Company, or are immediate family members of a 

Director, CEO or substantial shareholder of the Company whose remuneration amounts exceed $100,000 per annum 

during FY2023.

For FY2023, there were no terminations, retirement or post-employment benefi ts granted to Directors and relevant KMP 

other than the standard contractual notice period termination payment in lieu of service.

Provision 8.3 – All forms of remuneration, and other payments and benefi ts paid by the Company and its 
subsidiaries to Directors and KMP

The Company has adopted the mm2 PSP. The Group’s Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors (including 

Independent Directors), controlling shareholders or associates of a controlling shareholder are eligible to participate in 

the mm2 PSP in accordance with the rules of the mm2 PSP. The mm2 PSP is administered by the RC which consists of 

Tan Liang Pheng, Thomas Lei and Terry Mak. There have been no performance shares granted under the mm2 PSP in 

FY2023.

The Company is of the view that the current disclosure provides suffi cient overview of the remuneration of the Group 

while maintaining confi dentiality of staff remuneration matters. Annual variable bonuses would be linked to achievement 

of fi nancial and non-fi nancial KPIs such as core values, competencies, key result areas, performance rating and 

potential of the employees (including key management). Long-term incentive plans are conditional upon pre-determined 

performance targets being met and the long-term incentive plans serve to motivate and reward employees and align their 

interests to maximise long term shareholders’ value. The RC will continue to review the performance share grant when 

appropriate.

The RC ensures that there is a strong correlation between bonuses payable, and the achievement and performance of 

the Group and individual staff. The RC also ensures that there is a good balance of short-term and long-term incentive 

schemes to motivate continuous and sustainable performance.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that management maintains a sound 
system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the company and its shareholders.

Provision 9.1 – Nature and Extent of Signifi cant Risks

The Board has overall responsibilities for the governance of risk and exercises oversight of the signifi cant risks in the 

Group’s business. The Board ensures that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls and effective 

risk management policies to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets and in this regard, is assisted by 

the AC which reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls and risk management systems.

Given the nature and size of the Group’s business and operations, the Board did not establish a separate risk committee 

to review and assess the internal controls systems and risk management framework. The Board is currently assisted 

by the AC, internal auditors and independent auditor in carrying out its responsibility of overseeing the Group’s risk 

management framework and policies.

The Company’s Internal Auditor, BDO Advisory Pte. Ltd. reports to the AC on the Group’s risks profi le on a yearly basis, 

evaluates results and proposes counter measures to mitigate identifi ed potential risks.

To further enhance the risk management procedures in place, the Group had established a structured Enterprise Risk 

Management (“ERM”) framework which provide documented guidance on the process for identifying and assessing 

risks, adequacy of countermeasures and the manner in which risks matters are reported to the Board and AC. This risk 

framework has fi ve principal risk categories, namely strategic, fi nancial, operational, information technology control and 

compliance risks.

The pilot ERM programmes of the Group covers the following areas:

(1) ERM policies and procedures

 An overall framework for risk management has been documented in a manual to be disseminated to personnel 

responsible for oversight of risk and operations of risk countermeasures. This ERM manual includes the various 

personnel responsible for monitoring and managing risks in the Group. The ERM process will also require ongoing 

identifi cation of key risks to the Company and reporting these risks to the Board to better determine whether 

appropriate measures have been taken to address relevant risks. Risk workshops attended by KMP will be 

conducted to provide a structed approach of identify action and assess risks.

(2) Risk appetite

 The risk appetite of the Group in managing risks was discussed during the ERM project. Generally, the Group 

will rely on the Management to monitor day to day operations while subjecting key corporate decisions, such as 

investments or acquisitions of business to the approval of the Board. The Company’s performance is monitored 

closely by the Board periodically and any signifi cant matters that might have an impact on the operating results 

are required to be brought to the immediate attention of the Board.

 The Company has also taken a strict stance towards avoiding any risks that might result in breaching relevant laws 

and regulations and risks that could adversely affect the reputation of the Group. Active efforts are also in place to 

manage risks within impact such as transferring them to third party insurer or having internal control procedures to 

better mitigate the likelihood of their occurrence. Internal audits will be regularly conducted to assess the ongoing 

compliance with the established controls to address key risk areas where applicable.

(3) Risk assessment and monitoring

 Based on the ERM framework, the nature and extent of risks to the Company will be assessed regularly and 

risk reports covering top risks to the Group will be submitted periodically to the Board. A set of risk registers 

to document risks arising from this ERM exercise has also been established to document key risks and the 

corresponding countermeasures.
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The risk framework is reviewed regularly taking into account changes in the Group’s business and operating environment 

as well as evolving corporate governance requirements.

The identifi cation and management of risks are delegated to the Management, who assume ownership and day-to-

day management of these risks. The Management is responsible for the effective implementation of risk management 

strategy, policies and processes to facilitate the achievement of business plans and goals within the risk tolerance 

established by the Board. Key business risks are proactively identifi ed, addressed and reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Identifi ed risks that affect the achievement of the Group’s business objectives are compiled in the Group Risks Register 

and are being ranked according to the likelihood and consequential impact to the Group as a whole.

The main risks arising from the Group’s fi nancial operations are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and interest 

rate risk. Details on the foregoing are more particularly set out in the Notes to the Financial Statements. These risks are 

monitored by AC and the Board on a yearly basis.

The Board recognises that the risk management and internal control systems established by the Group provides 

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can be 

reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business objectives. The Board also noted that all internal control systems 

contain inherent limitations and no system of risk management and internal controls can provide absolute assurance 

against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other 

irregularities.

The internal auditor has reviewed key internal controls as part of the internal audit plan and have independently reported 

their assessment to the AC and the Board on the adequacy, effectiveness and integrity of the Group’s internal controls 

and risk management systems.

The internal auditor presents their fi ndings to the AC on a yearly basis. The internal audit report, comprising the details of 

any non-compliance or internal control weaknesses are noted during the audit, the corresponding recommendations and 

the Management’s responses were submitted and presented to the AC. The AC also follows up on the actions taken by 

the Management on the recommendations made by the internal auditor and independent auditor arising from their work 

performed. Based on the reports submitted by the internal and independent auditors received by the AC and the Board, 

nothing material has come to the attention of the AC and the Board to cause the AC and the Board to believe that the 

internal controls are not satisfactory based on the current size and nature of the Company’s business.

As part of the annual internal audits, the internal auditor also reports any signifi cant defi ciencies of such internal controls 

to the AC, who reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal controls system.

Provision 9.2 – Assurance from the CEO and Chief Financial Offi cer (“CFO”)

For the fi nancial year under review:

a) Written assurance was received from the CEO and CFO that the fi nancial records of the Group have been properly 

maintained and the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and fi nances; and

b) Written assurance was received from the CEO, CFO and other KMP that the Group’s risk management and internal 

controls systems in place were adequate and effective to address the fi nancial, operational, compliance and 

information technology risks in the context of the current scope of the Group’s business operations.

Based on the Group’s framework of management controls in place, the internal policies and procedures established and 

maintained by the Group, as well as the review performed by the internal auditor and independent auditor, the Board with 

the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that risk management and internal controls systems of the Group, addressing 

the fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology risks are adequate and effective as at 31 March 2023 to 

address the risks that the Group considers relevant and material to its operations, while noting that no system of internal 

control could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of errors, fraud or other irregularities.

The AC, Executive Director and CFO will continue to review and strengthen the Group’s controls environment and 

allocate more resources and expertise towards improving its internal policies and procedures to maintain a high level of 

governance and internal controls.
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Audit Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee which discharges its duties objectively.

Provisions 10.1 and 10.2 – Audit Committee Composition and Role 
Provision 10.4 – Internal Audit Function

The Board established the AC in 2014 which comprises three Non-Executive and Independent Directors, all of whom 

including the Chairman of the AC are independent. At least two members, including the AC Chairman, have relevant 

accounting or related fi nancial management expertise or experience. Please refer to Provision 1.4 above on the names of 

the members and the composition of the AC.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. It has full access to, and the 

co-operation of the Management and full discretion to invite the Executive Director or KMP to attend its meetings. The 

AC has adequate resources, including access to the external consultants and auditors, to enable it to discharge its 

responsibilities properly.

The AC met four times in FY2023 and the Executive Director, Non-Executive Directors and KMP were invited to attend the

meetings.

The Board is of the view that the members of the AC have suffi cient fi nancial management expertise and experience to 

discharge the AC’s functions. The AC which has written terms of reference, performs delegated functions:

(a) review quarterly, half-yearly and annual fi nancial statements and auditors’ report of the Group before submitting to 

the Board;

(b) review the audit plans of the independent and internal auditors of the Company and ensure the adequacy of 

the Group’s system of accounting and co-operation given by the Management to the independent and internal 

auditors respectively;

(c) review the signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the fi nancial 

statements of the Company and any announcements relating to the Company’s fi nancial performance;

(d) review all non-audit services provided by the independent auditor to the Group to ensure that the nature and 

extent of such services would not affect the independence of the independent auditor;

(e) review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management systems;

(f) review the assurance from the CEO and CFO on the fi nancial records and fi nancial statements;

(g) review the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the external audit and the Company’s 

internal audit function;

(h) review the policy and arrangements for concern about possible improprieties in fi nancial reporting or other matters 

to be safely raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed upon;

(i) review and discuss with the independent and internal auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected 

infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the 

Group’s operating results or fi nancial position, and the management’s response;

(j) make recommendation to the Board on the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment and 

removal of the independent auditor, and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent 

auditor;

(k) review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Manual;

(l) review potential confl icts of interests and to set out a framework to resolve or mitigate any potential confl icts of 

interest;

(m) review the effectiveness and adequacy of the administrative, operating, internal accounting and fi nancial control 

procedures;
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(n) review the key fi nancial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversight on the Group’s fi nancial 

reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or if the fi ndings are material, 

immediately announced via SGXNet;

(o) undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its fi ndings 

from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;

(p) generally, undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, and by 

such amendments made thereto from time to time;

(q) review arrangements by which the staff may, in confi dence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters 

of fi nancial reporting and to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent investigations of such 

matter and for appropriate follow-up; and

(r) review the Group’s compliance with such functions and duties as may be required under the relevant statutes or 

the Listing Manual, including such amendments made thereto from time to time.

External Audit

The AC reviews the scope and results of the audit carried out by the independent auditor, the cost effectiveness of 

the audit and the independence and objectivity of the independent auditor. It always seeks to balance the maintenance 

of objectivity of the independent auditor and their ability to provide professional advices and solutions. The AC 

undertook the review of the independence and objectivity of the independent auditor, CLA, through discussions with the 

independent auditor as well as reviewing the non-audit services provided and the fees paid to them. Based on the review, 

the AC is of the opinion that CLA is, and is perceived to be, independent for the purpose of the Group’s statutory audit. 

The fees payable to auditors is set out below:

$’000 %

Audit fees 343 86

Non-audit fees 58 14

Total 401 100

The AC recommends to the Board the appointment, re-appointment and removal of independent auditor, and approves 

the remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent auditor. The re-appointment of the independent auditor is 

always subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM of the Company.

In reviewing the nomination of CLA for re-appointment for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023, the AC has 

considered the adequacy of the resources, experience and competence of CLA, and has taken into account the Audit 

Quality Indicators relating to CLA at the fi rm level and on the audit engagement level. Consideration was also given to 

the experience of the engagement partner and key team members in handling the audit. The AC also considered the 

audit team’s ability to work in a co-operative manner with Management whilst maintaining integrity and objectivity and to 

deliver their services professionally and within agreed timelines.

On the basis of the above, the AC is satisfi ed with the standard and quality of work performed by CLA. It has 

recommended to the Board the nomination of CLA for re-appointment as independent auditor at the forthcoming AGM of 

the Company.

For FY2023, the Company has complied with Listing Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the SGX-ST in relation to the 

appointment of its independent auditor. The AC and the Board are satisfi ed with the standards and the effectiveness of 

the audits performed by the independent auditor, other than those of the Company.

For FY2023, the AC agreed with the independent auditor that going concern assumption, revenue recognition, 

deconsolidation of mm Connect Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiary corporations and subsequent presentation as “Discontinued 

operations”, expected credit loss on trade and other receivables and valuation of fi lm rights, fi lm intangibles and fi lm 

inventories were the key audit matters and is pleased to report that the AC is satisfi ed with the audit process undertaken 

by the independent auditor and their fi ndings therefrom.
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Internal Audit

The primary role of internal audit is to assist the Board to evaluate the reliability, adequacy and effectiveness of the 

internal controls and risk management processes of the Group, reviewing the internal controls of the Group to ensure 

prompt and accurate recording of transactions and proper safeguarding of assets and reviewing that the Group complies 

with the relevant laws, regulations and policies established.

The internal audit function plans its internal audit schedule in consultation with, but independent of the Management. The 

AC examines the internal audit plan, determines the scope of audit examination and approves the internal audit budget.

It also oversees the implementation of the improvements required on internal control weaknesses identifi ed and ensures 

that Management provides the necessary co-operation to enable the internal auditor to perform its function.

The internal auditor report primarily to the Chairman of the AC and has unrestricted access to the documents, records, 

properties and personnel of the Company and of the Group.

The AC annually reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function to ensure that resources are 

adequate and that the internal audits are performed effectively. It approves the appointment, termination, evaluation and 

the remuneration of the internal auditor.

The internal audit function of the Group was outsourced to BDO Advisory Pte. Ltd., which is an established international 

auditing fi rm. BDO Advisory Pte. Ltd. conducts their internal audits based on the BDO Global Internal Audit Methodology 

which is consistent with the International Professional Practices Framework established by the Institute of Internal 

Auditors. The engagement partner has more than 20 years of audit and advisory experience and is a Chartered 

Accountant (Singapore), Certifi ed Internal Auditor and Certifi ed Information System Auditor. Members of the internal audit 

team also have relevant academic qualifi cations, professional certifi cations and internal audit experience.

The AC is satisfi ed that the internal audit function is staffed by suitably qualifi ed and experienced professionals with 

the relevant experience to perform its function effectively. BDO Advisory Pte. Ltd. has provided a confi rmation on their 

independence to the AC.

Fraud and Whistle blowing Policy

The Group has designated and implemented an independent whistle blowing policy whereby accessible channels are 

provided for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters 

which they become aware and to ensure that:

(i) independent investigations are carried out in an appropriate and timely manner;

(ii) appropriate action is taken to correct the weakness in internal controls and policies which allowed the perpetration 

of fraud and/or misconduct and to prevent a recurrence; and

(iii) administrative, disciplinary, civil and/or criminal actions that are initiated following the completion of investigations 

are appropriate, balance and fair, while providing reassurance that employees will be protected from reprisals or 

victimisation for whistle-blowing in good faith and without malice.

The policy is aimed at encouraging the reporting of such matters in good faith, with the confi dence that staff of the 

Company and other persons making such reports will be treated fairly and, to the extent possible, protected from reprisal 

or unfair treatment. There was no whistle blowing report received during FY2023.

Provision 10.3 – Former Partners or Directors of the Company’s existing Audit Firm in AC

No former partner or Director of the Company’s existing auditing fi rm or auditing corporation is a member of the AC.

Provision 10.5 – Meeting Auditors without the Management

The AC meets with the independent auditor and the internal auditor, at least once a year, without the presence of the 

Management, to review any matter that might be raised. These meetings enable the auditors to raise any issues in the 

course of their works directly to the AC.
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D. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 
shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the company. 
The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and 
prospects.

Provision 11.1 – Participating and Voting at General Meetings 
Provision 11.2 – Tabling of Resolutions

Conduct of General Meetings

The forthcoming AGM will be held physically. Notices for general meetings are announced via SGXNet and advertised in 

the newspapers within the prescribed timeframe prior to the meetings (or as otherwise disseminated in accordance with 

such laws and regulations as may be applicable). The notices, together with relevant documents (such as annual report, 

letter to shareholders or circular) will be published on SGXNet and the Company’s website at http://www.mm2asia.com.

In order to provide ample time for the shareholders to review, the notice of general meeting, together with the relevant 

documents, is distributed to all shareholders at least 14 days before the scheduled general meeting date for ordinary 

resolutions, or at least 21 days for special resolutions (or as otherwise disseminated in accordance with such laws and 

regulations as may be applicable). Shareholders are invited to attend the general meetings, to put forth any questions 

they may have on the motions to be debated and decided upon.

The Constitution allows members of the Company to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote at general meetings. 

A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights 

attached to a different share or shares held by him/her (which number and class of shares shall be specifi ed). An investor 

who holds shares under the Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme (“CPF Investor”) and/or the Supplementary 

Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investor”) (as may be applicable) may attend and cast his/her vote(s) at the AGM in person. 

CPF and SRS Investors who are unable to attend the AGM but would like to vote, may inform their CPF and/or SRS 

Approved Nominees to appoint the Chairman of the AGM to act as their proxy, in which case, the CPF and SRS Investors 

shall be precluded from attending the AGM.

All shareholders are entitled to vote in accordance with the established voting rules and procedures at the general 

meeting. Each share is entitled to one vote.

An external fi rm is appointed as scrutineer for the general meeting voting process, which is independent of the fi rm 

appointed to undertake the poll voting process.

The Chairman of the meeting will read out the total number of votes cast for, against and/or abstained and the respective 

percentages on each resolution are tallied after each poll conducted during the general meeting.

The resolutions tabled at the general meetings are on each substantially separate issue, including treating the election or 

re-election of each Director as a separate subject matter.

Detailed information on each item in the general meeting agenda is provided in the explanatory notes to the notice of 

general meeting in the annual report.

Provision 11.3 – Interaction with Shareholders

At general meetings of the Company, shareholders are given the opportunity to communicate their views and are 

encouraged to ask the Directors and the Management questions regarding matters affecting the Company. All Directors 

were present at the AGM to address shareholders’ questions.

The Company’s independent auditor, CLA, are also invited to attend the AGM and are available to assist the Directors in 

addressing any relevant queries by the shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content 

of the auditors’ report.
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Provision 11.4 – Shareholders’ Participation

The Company supports active shareholders’ participation at general meetings. All shareholders are encouraged to attend 

the general meetings to ensure high level of accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies and visions.

In the usual circumstances, if shareholders are unable to attend the meetings, the Constitution allows for shareholders 

who are not relevant intermediaries to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at general meetings 

in their absence, and shareholders who are relevant intermediaries to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and 

vote at general meetings. In order to have a valid registration of proxy, the proxy forms must be completed and deposited 

in advance to the place(s) as specifi ed in the notice of the general meetings at least 72 hours before the time set for the 

general meetings.

The Company is not implementing absentia voting methods such as voting via mail, email or fax until security, integrity 

and other pertinent issues are satisfactorily resolved.

Provision 11.5 – Minutes of General Meetings

The Board views the AGM as the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders, being an opportunity for shareholders 

to raise issues relating to the resolutions tabled for approval and/or ask the Directors or the Management questions 

regarding the Company and its operations. The Company will prepare and publish the minutes of AGM within one month 

from the AGM on SGXNet. The minutes recorded substantial and relevant comments or queries from shareholders 

relating to the agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the Board or Management. Such minutes is also 

available to shareholders upon their request.

Provision 11.6 – Dividend Policy

The Company does not have a formal dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of any proposed dividends will 

take into consideration the Group’s profi t growth, cash position, positive cash generated from operations, projected 

capital requirements for business growth and other factors as the Board may deem appropriate. The Company 

endeavours to pay dividends and where dividends are not paid, the Company will disclose its reason(s) accordingly.

The Company did not declare any dividends for FY2023 as the Group recorded a loss for the fi nancial year.

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of 
shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on 
various matters affecting the company.

Provision 12.1 – Communication between the Board and Shareholders 
Provisions 12.2 and 12.3 – Investor Relations Policy

Disclosure of information on timely basis

The Group is fi rmly committed to corporate governance and transparency by disclosing to its stakeholders, including its 

shareholders, as much relevant information as is possible, in a timely, fair and transparent manner as well as to hearing its 

shareholders’ views and addressing their concerns.

By supplying shareholders with reliable and timely information, the Company is able to strengthen the relationship with its 

shareholders based on trust and accessibility.

All the information relevant to shareholders will be disclosed in a timely manner via SGXNet, its corporate website at 

http://www.mm2asia.com and the social media. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a selected Group, the 

Company will make the same disclosure publicly to all others as soon as possible.

Although the Company has not adopted a formal investor relations policy to regularly convey pertinent information to the 

shareholders, the Board acknowledges its obligation to furnish timely information to shareholders and ensures that full 

disclosure of material information in its Annual Report to comply with statutory requirements and the Listing Manual of 

the SGX-ST. The Company focuses on facilitating the communications with all stakeholders, shareholders, analysts and 

social media on a regular basis, attending to their queries or concerns as well as keeping the investors publicly apprised 

of the Group’s corporate developments and fi nancial performance.
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In view of the above, the Company did not implement a formal investor relations policy because there are existing 

channels to actively engage and promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

E. MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

Principle 13: The board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of 
material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the company are 
served.

Provision 13.1 – Arrangements to Identify and Engage with Stakeholders 
Provision 13.2 – Management of Stakeholder Relationships

Stakeholders’ Engagement

The Group has regularly engaged its stakeholders through various medium and channels to ensure that the business 

interests are aligned with those of the stakeholders, to understand and address the concerns so as to improve services 

and products’ standards, as well as to sustain business operations for long term growth.

The stakeholders have been identifi ed as those who are impacted by the Group’s business and operations and those who 

are similarly able to impact the Group’s business and operations.

Eight key group of stakeholders have been identifi ed through an assessment of their signifi cance to the business 

operations. They are namely, consumers and customers, third party contractors, employees, artistes and agents, 

mainstream media, venue managers, investors and shareholders, and government and regulators.

The Company has undertaken a process to determine the environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues which are 

important to these stakeholders. These issues form the materiality matrix upon which targets, performance and progress 

are reviewed and endorsed by the Board annually.

Having identifi ed the stakeholders and the material issues, the Company has mapped out the key areas of focus in 

relation to the management of the respective stakeholder relationships.

Please refer to the Sustainability Report on the Company’s website for further details.

Provision 13.3 – Corporate Website

All material information on the performance and development of the Group and of the Company is disclosed in a timely, 

accurate and comprehensive manner through SGXNet, press releases and the Company’s website. The Company 

does not practice selective disclosure of material information. All materials on the fi nancial results are available on the 

Company’s website – http://www.mm2asia.com. The comprehensive website, which is updated regularly, contains various 

information on the Group and the Company which serves as an important resource for investors and all stakeholders.

DEALING IN SECURITIES

- Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual

In compliance with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual on best practices in respect of dealing in securities, the Group 

has in place an internal compliance policy which prohibits the Directors, KMP and employees of the Group and their 

connected persons from dealing in the Company’s shares during the “black-out” period – being one month immediately 

preceding the announcement of the Company’s half-yearly and full year results and being two weeks immediately 

preceding the announcement of the Company’s quarterly fi nancial results respectively, or if they are in possession of 

unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group. In addition, Directors, KMP, employees and connected persons are 

expected to observe insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading period.

They are also expected to observe insider-trading laws at all time even when dealing in securities within the permitted 

trading period or while they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group. They are refrained 

from dealing in the Company’s shares on short term considerations.
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All Directors are required to seek Board’s approval before trading in the Company’s shares and are also required to notify 

the Company Secretary of any change in his interest in the Company’s shares within two business days of the change.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

- Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual

Pursuant to Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual, there was no material contract involving the interests of any Director or 

controlling shareholder entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries since the end of the previous fi nancial year 

ended 31 March 2022. There was no such contract subsisted at the end of the fi nancial year under review.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

- Rule 907 of the Listing Manual

To ensure compliance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, in FY2023, the AC and the Board, met quarterly to review 

if the Company will be entering into any interested person transactions. If the Company is intending to enter into an 

interested person transaction, the AC and the Board will ensure that the transaction is carried out fairly and at arm’s 

length based on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interest of the Company and its non-

controlling shareholders.

The Group does not have a general mandate from shareholders for interested person transactions pursuant to Rule 920 

of the Listing Manual.

There is no interested person transactions for FY2023 to be disclosed in accordance with Rule 907 of the Listing Manual.
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APPENDIX - INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS NOMINATED FOR RE-ELECTION

Table A

Name of Director Melvin Ang Dennis Chia

Date of appointment 20 August 2014 31 August 2017

Date of last re-election 17 September 2020 17 September 2020

Age 60 55

Country of principal residence Singapore Singapore

The Board’s comments on this 

re-election (including rationale, 

selection criteria, board diversity 

considerations, and the search and 

nomination process)

The Board has accepted the NC’s 

recommendation, which has reviewed 

and considered Melvin Ang’s 

performance as Executive Chairman 

and Executive Director

The Board has accepted the NC’s 

recommendation, which has reviewed 

and considered Dennis Chia’s 

performance as Non-Executive 

Director

Whether appointment is executive, 

and if so, the area of responsibility

Executive, supervising the overall 

business operations and management 

of the Group; identifying new business 

opportunities; and business planning 

and providing executive leadership 

and supervision to the Group’s senior 

management team

Non-Executive

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, 

AC

Member etc)

Executive Chairman and Executive 

Director, member of Nominating 

Committee

Non-Executive Director

Professional qualifi cation Master of Business Administration 

from Macquarie University

Bachelor (Honours) Degree in 

Accountancy from National University 

of Singapore

Master Degree in Business 

Administration from University of Hull, 

United Kingdom
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Table A

Name of Director Melvin Ang Dennis Chia

Working experience and occupation(s)

during the past 10 years

 November 2008 to November 

2014: CEO of mm2 Entertainment 

Sdn. Bhd. 

 October 2009 to November 2014: 

CEO of mm2 Entertainment Pte. 

Ltd. 

 November 2014 to April 2017: 

CEO of mm2 Asia Ltd.

 November 2014 to Present: 

Executive Director of mm2 Asia 

Group of Companies

 January 2017 to Present: 

Executive Chairman of mm2 

Group of Companies

 Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) 

of StarHub Ltd. (“StarHub”), 

Singapore’s ful ly-integrated 

info-communications company, 

offering a ful l  range of 

information, communications and 

entertainment services for both 

consumer and corporate markets. 

He oversees StarHub’s fi nancial 

health, develops key business 

strategies together with the core 

leadership team, ensures that 

business decisions are fi nancially 

sound, and executes strategies 

through fi nancial management 

 Senior Vice President and CFO 

of Stats Chippac (Worldwide), 

a leading provider of advanced 

semi-conductor packaging and 

test services

 Vice President of Finance, Asia 

Pacific Operations (APO) of 

Lear Corporation, he oversaw 

400 regional fi nance staff in 30 

manufacturing and administrative 

locations across Asia

 CFO of Behringer Corporation 

and Frontline Technologies 

Corporation, leading listing on the 

Singapore Exchange

Shareholding interest in the listed 

issuer and its subsidiaries

Direct interest – 335,400 shares

Deemed interest – 614,324,000 shares

Nil

Any relationship (including immediate 

family relationships) with any existing 

director, existing executive offi cer, the 

issuer and/or substantial shareholder 

of the listed issuer or of any of its 

principal subsidiaries

Non-Executive Chairman of UnUsUaL 

Limited

Chief Financial Offi cer of StarHub Ltd.

Conflict of interest (including any 

competing business)

None None

Undertaking (in the format set out in 

Appendix 7H) under Rule 720(1) has 

been submitted to the listed issuer

Yes Yes

Other Principal Commitments* Including Directorships# 

*”Principal Commitments” has the same meaning as defi ned in the Code

#These fi elds are not applicable for announcements of appointments pursuant to Listing Rule 704(9)

Past (for the last 5 years) None  Bloomeria Limited

 Lear Automobile Corporation  

Singapore Pte. Ltd.
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Table A

Name of Director Melvin Ang Dennis Chia

Present  UnUsUaL Limited

 mm2 Entertainment Pte. Ltd. 

 mm2 Entertainment Sdn. Bhd.

 UnUsUaL Management Pte. Ltd. 

 Cathay Cineplexes Pte Ltd 

 mm2 Entertainment Hong Kong  

Limited

 MA Holdings Management Company 

Limited

 mmLive Pte. Ltd.

 mmSync Pte. Ltd. 

 StarHub Mobile Pte Ltd

 Starhub Cable Vision Ltd. 

 Starhub Online Pte. Ltd. 

 StarHub (Hong Kong) Limited 

 StarHub Shop Pte Ltd

 StarHub, Inc.

 JOS (SG) Pte. Ltd.

 JOS Applications (S) Pte. Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity Pte. Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity (Systems) Pte. 

Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity (Asia Pacifi c) 

Pte.  Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity (Cybersecurity) 

Pte. Ltd.

 Ensign InfoSecurity (SmartTech) 

Pte.  Ltd.

 Malaren International Sdn. Bhd.

 HKBN JOS (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 

 Nettilling Sdn. Bhd.

 Taman Kenyir Holdings Sdn. Bhd.

 Antina Pte. Ltd.

 Kydon Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

 Spendid Pte. Ltd.

 Chief Financial Offi cer of Starhub 

Ltd.

The general statutory disclosures of the Retiring Directors are as follows:

Question Melvin Ang Dennis Chia

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition 

under any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was fi led against him or 

against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time when he was 

a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a 

partner?

No No

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition 

under any law of any jurisdiction was fi led against an entity (not being a 

partnership) of which he was a director or an equivalent person or a key 

executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or 

a key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date 

he ceased to be a director or an equivalent person or a key executive of 

that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, where that 

entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground 

of insolvency?

No No
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Question Melvin Ang Dennis Chia

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfi ed judgment against him? No No

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore 

or elsewhere, involving fraud or dishonesty which is punishable with 

imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings 

(including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such 

purpose?

No No

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or 

elsewhere, involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement that 

relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or 

has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending 

criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?

No No

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered 

against him in any civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a 

breach of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities 

or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a fi nding of fraud, 

misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of 

any civil proceedings (including any pending civil proceedings of which he 

is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty 

on his part?

No No

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any 

offence in connection with the formation or management of any entity or 

business trust?

No No

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualifi ed from acting as a director or an 

equivalent person of any entity (including the trustee of a business trust), 

or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management of any entity or 

business trust?

No No

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling 

of any court, tribunal or governmental body, permanently or temporarily 

enjoining him from engaging in any type of business practice or activity?

No No

(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the 

management or conduct, in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law 

or regulatory requirement governing corporations in Singapore or 

elsewhere; or

No No

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a 

breach of any law or regulatory requirement governing such entities in 

Singapore or elsewhere; or

No No

(iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any 

law or regulatory requirement governing business trusts in Singapore 

or elsewhere; or

No No

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach 

of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities 

or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in connection with 

any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so 

concerned with the entity of business trust?

No No

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or 

disciplinary proceedings, or has been reprimanded or issued any warning, 

by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, 

exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore 

or elsewhere?

No No
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INDDEPENDENT
AUDITORR’S REPORT

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of mm2 Asia Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial 
position of the Company as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position 
of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2023 and of the consolidated 
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the financial year 
ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Going concern assumption
(Refer to Note 4 to the financial statements)

Area of focus

The Group recorded a higher revenue for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 amounting to $134,285,000 and 
recorded a net current asset position of $21,585,000. However, the Group incurred a net loss of $122,455,000 for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2023 and as of that date, the Group has borrowings amounting to $117,635,000 which due 
within the next 12 months from the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned financial challenges, the management of the Group believes that the use of the going 
concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 is 
appropriate after taking into the consideration of the following measurements and assumptions:

The Group is currently conducting a fund-raising exercise through its wholly owned subsidiary, mmLive Pte. Ltd. 
(“mmLive”), including but not limited to, issuance of convertible securities, with the aim of raising funds for the 
Group. This fund-raising exercise is ongoing as at the date of this report.

The Group is currently negotiating for the sale of 40% equity interest in the share capital of mm Connect Pte. Ltd.

The Group is also negotiating different avenues to raise funds and is currently in advanced discussion with several 
strategic investors to raise further fundings for the Group.

The Group, who was assisted by supportive financial institutions, has a positive outlook of raising total proceeds between 
$70 million to $80 million within the next 12 months from the financial year ended 31 March 2023. Consequently, this puts 
the Group in a better position to engage with its lenders to review the terms and conditions of its existing credit facilities
and compliance with loan covenants.

The Group manages its operating cash flows and funding availability closely to ensure that all repayment and funding 
requirement are met. Based on the cash flow forecasts prepared, the management has determined that the Group has
sufficient cashflow resources available to meet its liabilities and obligations as they fall due and have concluded that there 
are no material uncertainties on their going concern assumptions.

We focused on this area because of the level of subjectivity associated with the assumptions used in the assessment of 
the going concern of the Group. These assumptions are made by the management of the Group, taking into consideration 
of their expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Going concern assumption (continued)
(Refer to Note 4 to the financial statements)

How our audit addressed the area of focus

In obtaining sufficient audit evidence, the following procedures were carried out:

Reviewed the business plans and assumptions used by management in their assessment of the going concern of 
the Group through: -

- Discussions with management and obtained an understanding on the Group’s fund-raising activities and 
obtained written representations from management, regarding the feasibility of these plans;

- Enquiring and obtaining correspondences from the financial institution to obtain an understanding of the terms 
and progress of the ongoing fund-raising activities in negotiations by the Group; and

- Sighting to signed term sheets and subscription agreements entered by the Group and the investors and 
receipts of the incoming funds in relation to their funds raising activities;

Evaluated management assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern through obtaining 
management’s forecast of the cash flows projection of the Group over the next twelve months from the date of the 
financial statements and: -

- Assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions used by reviewing the Group’s business plans and 
historical performance; and

- Challenged the appropriateness of the key assumptions used by management in the cash flow projection, 
including timing of cash required for operations, the Group’s forecasts of revenue and operating expenses.

Reviewed minutes of board meetings and relevant committees for any discussion of financial difficulties and future 
plans, including those up to the date of this report;

Reviewed events after the financial year end to identify factors relevant, if any, to the going concern assumption 
as a basis for the preparation of the financial statements; and

Reviewed the adequacy and appropriateness of the management’s disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Revenue Recognition 
(Refer to Notes 2.3, 3(d) and 5 to the financial statements)

Area of focus

The Group’s total revenue amounted to $134,285,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 which was principally 
contributed by three (3) reportable segments, namely, Core Business, Digital Media and Live Experience Productions and 
Event Production and Concert Promotion.

Under SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the 
consideration in the contracts to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for promised goods or services to 
the customers as and when the Group satisfies its performance obligation at a point in time or over time.

We focused on revenue as a key audit matter due to a presumed fraud risk related to revenue recognition. Revenue 
represents the most significant item and serves as one of the key performance indicators of the Group’s financial 
statements.  Moreover, certain revenue streams in the Group are driven by certain terms in the related contracts which 
would require greater judgement and consideration.

How our audit addressed the area of focus

In obtaining sufficient audit evidence, the following procedures were carried out:

Discussed with management on the processes involved in the respective revenue cycles and performed 
walkthroughs to confirm our understanding;

Reviewed and evaluated the Group’s revenue recognition policy is in accordance with SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers;

Reviewed significant contracts during the financial year to assess whether the revenue is recognised in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies as disclosed in Note 2.3 to the financial statements;

Performed substantive testing, including cut-off procedures, to ascertain revenue was recognised appropriately in 
the correct financial year;

Reviewed significant credit notes issued, where applicable, during the financial year and subsequent to the
financial year end to ascertain revenue was recognised appropriately in the correct financial year; 

Reviewed management’s journal entries to detect any unusual transactions in relation to revenue; and

Reviewed management’s disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Deconsolidation of mm Connect Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiary corporations (“mm Connect Group”) and subsequent 
presentation as “Discontinued operations”
(Refer to Notes 2.31 and 41(a) to the financial statements)

Area of focus

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into an Exchangeable Bond Subscription Agreement 
(“Agreement”) amounting to $54,000,000 with a bondholder, which includes 250 million free detachable warrants valued 
at $16,250,000. As per the terms of the Agreement, the bondholder is entitled to 60% of mm Connect Pte. Ltd.’s board 
representation.

In accordance with SFRS(I) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the entitlement of the bondholder to 60% of mm 
Connect Pte. Ltd.’s board representation had led to the Group losing control over the mm Connect Group and as a result, 
the Group is required to deconsolidate the mm Connect Group and accordingly, reclassified mm Connect Pte. Ltd. as an 
associated company of the Group and the Company.

Under SFRS(I) 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale, the deconsolidation of the mm Connect Group has also led to the 
financial results of the mm Connect Group to be presented as “Discontinued Operations” as of 31 March 2023 and its 
prior financial year’s financial results have been restated to reflect this change in presentation in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

We focused on this area as a key audit matter due to its significant nature and the involvement of significant judgement 
by management. This judgement is necessary to evaluate the loss of control over the mm Connect Group and its 
subsequent reclassification as an associated company and presentation as a discontinued operations on the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income respectively.

How our audit addressed the area of focus

In obtaining sufficient audit evidence, the following procedures were carried out: 

Reviewed the Exchangeable Bond Subscription Agreement;

Evaluated and challenged the management’s assessment of the Group’s loss of control over the mm Connect 
Group in accordance with SFRS(I) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements;

Comprehension of the deconsolidation entries and reviewed the effects of deconsolidation on the respective 
financial components of the financial statements;

Assessed the appropriateness of the presentation of the mm Connect Group as a discontinued operations in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in accordance with SFRS(I) 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-
Sale; and

Reviewed management’s disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of film rights, film intangibles and film inventories
(Refer to Notes 2.9, 2.10, 3(a), 25 and 26 to the financial statements)

Area of focus

Film rights, film intangibles and film inventories (“films”) totaling $43,851,000 are an integral part of the Group’s businesses 
and contributed to approximately 10% of the Group’s total assets. These films are identifiable non-monetary assets without 
any physical substance.

Accounting for the development of content is one of the significant judgements for the media industry. Movie content can 
be developed in-house or externally using third parties or acquired or licensed from third parties. 

The costs of the film rights, after deducting estimated residual value and accumulated impairment, are amortised 
proportionally to the estimated projected revenue over their economic beneficial period. Film intangibles and film 
inventories are also amortised over the economic beneficial period, with the maximum of the license period when the film 
is released. The Group recognised amortisation expense relating to these films totaling to $9,800,000 for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2023.

The amortisation period and method for these films are reviewed annually and an impairment assessment is performed
whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired. Management performed an impairment assessment of these films 
using its forecasted revenue over its economic beneficial period to determine the recoverable amount of the respective 
films. No impairment loss was recognised by the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 as the recoverable 
amount was more than the carrying amount for respective film.

We focused on this area as a key audit matter as the valuation of film rights, film intangible and film inventories involved 
significant management’s judgements and estimates.

How our audit addressed the area of focus

In obtaining sufficient audit evidence, the following procedures were carried out: 

Reviewed and evaluated the Group’s accounting policies for the films are in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-38
Intangible Assets;

Assessed the reasonableness of the amortisation expense based on the Group’s accounting policies;

Analysed the future projected revenues on a sampling basis used in the model to determine whether they are 
reasonable and supportable given the current economic climate and expected future performance of the cash-
generating unit; 

Challenged the appropriateness of the assumptions used by the management for the respective films on a 
sampling basis, by comparing them against historical forecasts and performance, as well as other supportable 
documentation; and

Reviewed management’s disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient 
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Loh Hui Nee.

CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

Singapore
12 July 2023
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STAATISTICS OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

Class of shares : Ordinary shares

Number of shares (excluding treasury shares) : 2,790,609,220

Voting rights : One vote per share

No. of treasury shares and percentage : Nil

No. of subsidiary holdings held and percentage : Nil

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of shareholdings No. of shareholders % No. of shares %

1 - 99 7 0.24 257 0.00

100 - 1,000 229 7.83 172,700 0.01

1,001 - 10,000 661 22.59 4,063,600 0.15

10,001 - 1,000,000 1,908 65.21 257,315,144 9.22

1,000,001 and above 121 4.13 2,529,057,519 90.62

Total 2,926 100.00 2,790,609,220 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of shares %

1 CGS-CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 380,653,400 13.64

2 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 375,319,100 13.45

3 Oei Hong Leong 235,776,100 8.45

4 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 227,119,400 8.14

5 Goi Seng Hui 190,000,000 6.81

6 iFast Financial Pte Ltd 132,827,900 4.76

7 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 114,870,668 4.12

8 StarHub Ltd 114,315,790 4.10

9 Choo Meileen 113,345,600 4.06

10 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 84,784,800 3.04

11 Yeo Khee Seng Benny 76,167,888 2.73

12 DB Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd 58,040,000 2.08

13 Maybank Securities Pte. Ltd. 33,853,400 1.21

14 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 32,228,400 1.15

15 BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 26,816,400 0.96

16 Raffl es Nominees (Pte) Limited 23,845,400 0.85

17 Tjandra Tjakrawinata @ Chow Charles 20,384,900 0.73

18 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 16,679,500 0.60

19 Tiger Brokers (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 13,597,805 0.49

20 Fok Chee Cheong @ Fok Chee Chiong 12,900,000 0.46

Total 2,283,526,451 81.83
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Name No. of shares % No. of shares %

Melvin Ang Wee Chye (1)  335,400 0.01% 614,324,000 22.01%

Oei Hong Leong  235,776,100 8.45% – 0.00%

Goi Seng Hui  190,000,000 6.81% – 0.00%

Ron Sim Chye Hock (2)  130,631,700 4.68% 32,455,400 1.16%

(1) Mr. Melvin Ang Wee Chye (“Mr. Melvin Ang”) is deemed to be interested in the 614,324,000 ordinary shares, which are maintained 

under the following nominee accounts set out below respectively:-

 (a) 297,800,000 ordinary shares under CGS-CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte. Ltd; and

 (b) 316,524,000 ordinary shares under UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd.;

 (collectively, the “MA Nominee Accounts”)

 Under the UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd account, a total of 201,064,000 ordinary shares are held under Lionsgate Alpha Ltd., a company 

which is wholly owned by Mr Melvin Ang Wee Chye.

 Pursuant to Section 7 of the Act, Mr. Melvin Ang is deemed to be interested in the shares held by the MA Nominee Accounts.

(2) Mr Ron Sim Chye Hock (“Mr Ron Sim”) is deemed to be interested in the 32,455,400 ordinary shares held under Future Store Pte 

Ltd, which is an indirect subsidiary of V3 Group Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr Ron Sim.

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN PUBLIC HANDS

As at 30 June 2023, 69.8% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the Company has 

complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited which requires 10% 

of the equity securities (excluding preference shares and convertible equity securities) in a class that is listed to be in the 

hands of the public.
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NOTICE OF
ANNUALL GENERAAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM” or “Meeting”) of mm2 Asia Ltd. (“Company”) 

will be held at One Marina Boulevard, Level 8 - Room 801, NTUC Business Centre, Singapore 018989 on Monday, 

31 July 2023 at 1.00 p.m. (Singapore Time) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fi t, passing with or without any 

modifi cations, the ordinary resolutions as set out below:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements of the Company and the Group 

for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023 together with the Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. Resolution 1

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $247,500 for the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2024, to be paid 

quarterly in arrears. Resolution 2

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Regulation 110 of the Constitution of the Company:

 Mr Melvin Ang Wee Chye Resolution 3
 Mr Dennis Chia Choon Hwee Resolution 4

 [See Explanatory Note (i)]

4. To re-appoint Messrs CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation, as the Independent Auditor of the Company 

and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration. Resolution 5

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fi t, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions, with or without modifi cations:

6. Authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 
and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

 (a) (i) issue shares in the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

  (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require 

shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 

options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 

Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fi t; and

 (b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares 

pursuant to any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in 

force,

  (the “Share Issue Mandate”)
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 provided that:

 (1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued pursuant to the Instruments, made or 

granted pursuant to this Resolution) and instruments to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not 

exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the 

capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate 

number of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of 

the Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and 

subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) 

below);

 (2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 

aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total 

number of issued shares and Instruments shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this 

Resolution, after adjusting for:

  (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

  (b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding 

or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were 

granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and

  (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

  Adjustment in accordance with sub-paragraphs (2)(a) or (2)(b) above are only to be made in respect of new 

share arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued and outstanding 

or subsisting at the time of passing of the Share Issue Mandate.

 (3) in exercising the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 

Provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has 

been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution of the Company; and

 (4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, the Share Issue Mandate shall continue 

in force (i) until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the next AGM of 

the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued 

in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such 

shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments. Resolution 6

 [See Explanatory Note (ii)]

7. Authority to issue shares under the mm2 Performance Share Plan

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967, the Directors of the Company be authorised and 

empowered to offer and grant share awards under the mm2 Performance Share Plan (the “mm2 PSP”) and to 

issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued 

pursuant to the vesting of share awards under the mm2 PSP, whether granted during the subsistence of this 

authority or otherwise, provided always that the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to be issued 

pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and 

subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked 

or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the 

Company or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

  Resolution 7

 [See Explanatory Note (iii)]
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8. Proposed Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

 That:

 a. for the purposes of Section 76C and 76E of the Companies Act 1967, the exercise by the Directors of the 

Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire the issued and fully-paid 

ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum 

Percentage (as defi ned below), at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors from time to time up 

to the Maximum Price (as defi ned below), whether by way of:

  (i) on-market purchases, transacted through the SGX-ST trading system, through one or more duly 

licensed stock brokers appointed by the Company for that purpose (“Market Purchase”); and/or

  (ii) off-market purchases pursuant to an equal access scheme in accordance with Section 76C of the 

Companies Act 1967 (“Off-Market Purchase”),

  and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the 

time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the 

“Share Buyback Mandate”);

 b. unless varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors 

of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time 

and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this Resolution and 

expiring on the earliest of:

  a. the date on which the next AGM of the Company is held or required by law to be held;

  b. the date on which the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share 

Buyback Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated;

  c. the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked by 

shareholders of the Company in a general meeting;

  whichever is the earliest;

 c. in this Resolution:

  “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last fi ve 

Market Days (“Market Day” being a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities) on which 

the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST, immediately preceding the date of the Market Purchase by the 

Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, 

and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the rules of the SGX-ST, for any corporate action that 

occurs after the relevant fi ve-day period;

  “date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company makes an offer for the purchase 

or acquisition of Shares from holder of Shares, stating therein the relevant terms of the equal access 

scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

  “Maximum Percentage” means that number of issued Shares representing 1% of the total number of 

issued Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution (excluding any Shares which are held as 

treasury shares or subsidiary holdings as at that date);

  “Maximum Price” in relation to a share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price (excluding 

brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) which shall not 

exceed:

  (i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and

  (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 120% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares;
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 d. the Directors and/or any one of them be and are hereby authorised to deal with the Shares purchased or 

acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate in any manner as they think fi t, which is 

permissible under the Companies Act 1967; and

 e. the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all 

such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may 

consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this 

Resolution. Resolution 8

 [See Explanatory Note (iv)]

By Order of the Board

Lissa Siau Kuei Lian

Company Secretary

Singapore, 16 July 2023

Explanatory Notes:

(i) Mr Melvin Ang Wee Chye will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Executive Chairman and Executive 

Director and member of Nominating Committee.

 Mr Dennis Chia Choon Hwee will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Non-Executive and 

Non-Independent Director.

 Please refer to Table A of the Corporate Governance Report on page 47 to page 50 of the Annual Report for the detailed 

information of the above-mentioned retiring Directors, required pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

(ii) The ordinary Resolution 6 in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of 

the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority 

is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments 

convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total 

number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% 

may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital of the 

Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the 

capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion 

or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or 

subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of 

shares.

(iii) The ordinary Resolution 7 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of this AGM until 

the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority 

is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue shares in the Company 

pursuant to the vesting of share awards under the mm2 PSP provided that the aggregate additional shares to be allotted and 

issued pursuant to the mm2 PSP do not exceeding in total (for the entire duration of the mm2 PSP) 15% of the total number of 

issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(iv) The ordinary Resolution 8 in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM 

until the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever 

is the earlier, to repurchase ordinary shares of the Company by way of market purchases or off-market purchases of up to 1% 

of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the 

Maximum Price as defi ned in the Appendix. The rationale for, the authority and limitation on, the sources of funds to be used for 

the purchase and acquisition including the amount of fi nancing and the fi nancial effects of the purchase or acquisition of ordinary 

shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buy Back Mandate on the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group 

for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in greater detail in the Appendix.
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Notes:

1. A member of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not 

more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A member shall specify the proportion of his/her/its shareholding to be 

represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. A Relevant Intermediary may appoint more than two proxies, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to 

a different share or shares held by him/her (which number and class of shares shall be specifi ed).

3. The Proxy Form must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 1002 Jalan Bukit Merah, #07-11 Singapore 
159456 by mail or by email to ir@mm2asia.com , in each case, no later than 1.00 p.m. on 28 July 2023, and failing which, the 

Proxy Form will not be treated as valid.

4. The Proxy Form must be executed under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 

Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its offi cer or attorney 

duly authorised. Where the Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other 

authority) or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the Proxy Form, 

failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

5. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its Directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t 

to act as its representative with respect to the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 and the person 

so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution certifi ed by a Director of the corporation to be a true copy, be 

entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were 

an individual.

6. In the case of a member of the Company whose shares are entered against his/her name in the Depository Register, the Company 

may reject any Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his/her name in the 

Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certifi ed by The Central 

Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

7. A member of the Company who holds his/her shares through a Relevant Intermediary* (including CPFIS Members or SRS 

Investors) and who wishes to exercise his/her votes by appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach his/her 

Relevant Intermediary (including his/her CPF Agent Bank or SRS Operators) to submit his/her voting instructions at least seven (7) 

working days prior to the date of the AGM.

Submission of questions prior to the AGM

1. A member of the Company may submit questions relating to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM or the 

Company’s businesses and operations no later than 1.00 p.m. on 23 July 2023 through any one of the following means: (a) in 

physical copy by depositing the same at the registered offi ce of the Company at 1002 Jalan Bukit Merah, #07-11 Singapore 
159456; or (b) by email to ir@mm2asia.com. The Company will endeavour to address substantial and relevant questions and will 

upload the Company’s responses to the queries from shareholders on the SGXNet and Company’s website by 25 July 2023.

2. If the questions are deposited in physical copy at the Company’s registered offi ce or sent via email, and in either case not 

accompanied by the completed and executed Proxy Form (as defi ned below), the following details must be included with the 

submitted questions: (i) the member’s full name; and (ii) his/her/its identifi cation/registration number for verifi cation purposes, 

failing which the submission will be treated as invalid.

*A Relevant Intermediary is:

(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 of the Laws of the Republic of Singapore or a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of such a banking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; 

or

(b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services under the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of the 

Laws of the Republic of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953 of the Laws of the Republic of Singapore, 

in respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from 

the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Central Provident Fund Board 

holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

Personal Data Privacy:

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the 

AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company consents to the collection, use and disclosure of such member’s personal 

data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration, analysis and facilitation by the 

Company (or its agents or service providers) of his/her/its participation in the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation 

and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order 

for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines.
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MM2 ASIA LTD.
(Company Registration No. 201424372N)

(Incorporated in Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT: 

1. An investor who holds shares under the Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme 

(“CPF Investor”) and/or Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investor”) (as 

may be applicable) may attend and cast his vote(s) at the Meeting in person. CPF 

and SRS Investors who are unable to attend the Meeting but would like to vote, 

may inform their CPF and SRS Operators to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting 

to act as their proxy, at least 7 working days before the Meeting, in which case, 

CPF/SRS Investor shall be precluded from attending the Meeting. 

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF and SRS Investors and shall be 

ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

I/We  (Name),  (NRIC/Passport no./Co. reg. No)

of  (Address)

being a member/members of mm2 Asia Ltd. (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or*

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“Meeting”) as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and vote 

for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the Meeting of the Company to be held at One Marina Boulevard, Level 8 - Room 801, 

NTUC Business Centre, Singapore 018989 on Monday, 31 July 2023 at 1.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We 

direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no 

specifi c direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment 

thereof, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion.

No. Ordinary Resolutions

No. of 
Votes 
For**

No. of 
Votes 

Against**

No. of 
Votes 

Abstain**

Ordinary Business:

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial 

Statements of the Company and of the Group for the fi nancial year ended 

31 March 2023 together with the Independent Auditor’s Report thereon

2. Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to $247,500 for the fi nancial year 

ending 31 March 2024, to be paid quarterly in arrears

3. Re-election of Mr Melvin Ang Wee Chye as a Director

4. Re-election of Mr Dennis Chia Choon Hwee as a Director

5. Re-appointment of Messrs CLA Global TS Public Accounting Corporation 

as the Independent Auditor and to authorise the Directors to fi x their 

remuneration

Special Business:

6. Authority to allot and issue new shares

7. Authority to allot and issue shares under the mm2 Performance Share Plan

8. Proposed Renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

**If you wish to exercise all your votes ‘For’, ‘Against’ or ‘Abstain’, please tick (√) within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate 

the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this  day of  2023

Total number of Shares No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature of Member

and/or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

* Delete where inapplicable

IMPORTANT: Please read notes overleaf



NOTES TO PROXY FORM

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 

(as defi ned in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of the Laws of the Republic of Singapore), you should insert 

that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number 

of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the 

Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and 

registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be 

deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary*), entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting of the Company is 

entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A member shall specify the proportion of his/her/

its shareholding to be represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies. A proxy need not be a member of the 

Company.

3. A Relevant Intermediary may appoint more than two proxies, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to 

a different share or shares held by him/her (which number or class of shares shall be specifi ed).

4. Subject to note 8, completion and return of the instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and 

voting at the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting 

in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the 

instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The Proxy Form must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 1002 Jalan Bukit Merah, #07-11 Singapore 
159456 by mail or by email to ir@mm2asia.com, in each case, no later than 1.00 p.m. on 28 July 2023, and failing which, the 

Proxy Form will not be treated as valid.

6. The Proxy Form must be executed under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 

Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its offi cer or attorney 

duly authorised. Where the Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other 

authority) or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the Proxy Form, 

failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its Directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t 

to act as its representative with respect to the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 and the person 

so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution certifi ed by a Director of the corporation to be a true copy, be 

entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were 

an individual.

8. A member of the Company who holds his/her shares through a Relevant Intermediary* (including CPFIS Members or SRS 

Investors) and who wishes to exercise his/her votes by appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy should approach his/her 

Relevant Intermediary (including his/her CPF Agent Bank or SRS Operators) to submit his/her voting instructions at least seven (7) 

working days prior to the date of the AGM.

* A Relevant Intermediary is:

(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 of the Laws of the Republic of Singapore or a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of such a banking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; 

or

(b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act 

2001 of the Laws of the Republic of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953 of the Laws of the Republic of Singapore, in 

respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the 

contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the 

capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data 

privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 16 July 2023.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible, or 

where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing 

a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 

as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the 

Company.
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